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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

 

 

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Junefield Department Store Group Limited (the “Company”), 

I am pleased to announce the annual results of the Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively the 

“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

RESULTS

In 2017, the Group’s revenue from continuing operations was approximately HK$36,275,000 for the year 

ended 31 December 2017, which significantly dropped by 77% over HK$154,401,000 as compared to the 

corresponding period of 2016. The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately 

HK$44,895,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017, which increased by 23% over HK$36,495,000 as 

compared to the corresponding period of 2016.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the major reasons for the Group’s revenue dropped significantly was no turnover contribution 

from the businesses of the manufacture and sale of construction materials, coal mining and property 

development in Peru and drop in turnover attributable from trading of mineral concentrates business due to 

the weak demand from the major customer in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The operation of 

manufacture and sale of construction materials business has not yet resumed during the year was due to the 

pending arbitration with the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji Construction Material Co., Ltd. (an indirect 

60%-owned subsidiary of the Company, “Hunan Taiji”), however the Group received the compensation of 

approximately Renminbi13,850,000, in respect of the arbitral ruling made by the arbitration commission in the 

PRC in 2015, from the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji in August 2017.

The coal mining business in Peru has also suspended since July 2016 due to introduction of selective 

consumption tax in the local market in Peru. Therefore, the Group has no alternative but to change its marketing 

strategy and planned to export its coal products to other countries in South America to mitigate the additional 

costs. During the year, the Group kept on developing another coal mine particularly for export market which has 

reached in the final development stage. The newly developed coal mine has started preliminary production in the 

first quarter of 2018. Once the production of the newly developed coal mine becomes stable, the Group plans to 

prepare operation resumption of the coal mine currently under suspension as soon as possible.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

During the year, the Group’s trading of mineral concentrates business recorded a net loss due to the 

consolidation of the results of the respective business engaged in Peru for the year, which was at its initial stage, 

and impairment loss on deposits and other receivables was made.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In 2017, the Group’s result for the year of 2017 was still disappointed mainly due to the prolonged unresolved 

disputes with business partner and unfavourable change of local governmental policies. Notwithstanding the 

timetable in resolving the pending issues is uncertain, the Group had a good start in the first quarter of 2018 – 

its new coal mine in Peru started preliminary production. The Group expects the sales from this new coal mine 

will be recognised in the third quarter of 2018. On the other hand, the Group made some good progress on the 

negotiation with the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji on the resumption of operation of Hunan Taiji. Currently, 

both the Group and the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji endeavor efforts and negotiate on a friendly basis 

to resolve the discrepancies between both parties and strive for mutual agreement to achieve mutual benefits 

to each other and Hunan Taiji. The Group is optimistic that both parties would have a breakthrough and the 

performance of Hunan Taiji would be back on track soon.

In addition, the Group will also consider raising funds by suitable means when investment opportunities arise.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all our shareholders, fellow directors, customers, 

suppliers, business associates and staff for their continuing support.

Zhou Chu Jian He

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

 

 

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group’s revenue from continuing operations was approximately 

HK$36,275,000 (2016: HK$154,401,000), significantly decreased by 77% as compared to last year under 

review. The consolidated loss from the continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company was 

approximately HK$44,895,000 (2016: HK$34,160,000), representing an increase of 31% over the same period 

last year under review. 

The significant decrease in revenue and increase in the loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of 

the Company was mainly attributable to no turnover contribution from the manufacture and sale of construction 

materials segment, coal mining segment and property development business in Peru as well as the weak 

demand for the mineral concentrates from the major customer in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) 

during the year under review.

OPERATIONS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK 

CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL BUSINESS

Hunan Taiji Construction Material Co., Ltd. (“Hunan Taiji”), the Group’s indirect 60%-owned subsidiary engaged 

in manufacture and sale of slag powder business in the PRC, has been in suspension of production since 

August 2016 after its sole supplier suspended the supply of the granulated steel slag for production (“Steel 

Slag Supply”) in March 2016. During the year under review, there was no turnover (2016: approximately 

HK$25,983,000) while it made a net loss of approximately HK$44,918,000 (2016: HK$38,815,000), representing 

an increase of 16% compared to last year under review due to the reassessment by the Group on the 

recoverable amount of the supplier contract as at 31 December 2017. An impairment loss of approximately 

HK$14,782,000 (2016: HK$11,686,000) was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the 

year under review.

The Group filed two arbitral applications with the China International Economics and Trade Arbitration 

Commission (“Arbitration Commission”) for claiming compensations from Hunan Taiji’s minority shareholder on 

the decrease of the profits due to the shortage of Steel Slag Supply for the periods from 1 January 2011 to 

31 August 2013 (the “First Taiji Arbitration Application”) and from 1 September 2013 to 30 September 2015 

(the “Second Taiji Arbitration Application”) respectively. In 2015, the Arbitration Commission ruled on the First 

Taiji Arbitration Application that the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji should pay the Group a compensation 

of approximately RMB13,850,000 and it should continue to honour its obligations by procuring the Steel Slag 

Supply in accordance with the joint venture agreement of Hunan Taiji until 2021 (the “First Taiji Arbitral Ruling”). 
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OPERATIONS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL BUSINESS (continued)

However, the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji failed to follow the First Taiji Arbitral Ruling. The Group 

subsequently took legal actions to enforce the execution of the First Taiji Arbitral Ruling and it ultimately received 

the compensation together with the reimbursement of other expenses from the minority shareholder of Hunan 

Taiji on 2 August 2017. The compensation proceed has been recognised as other income in the consolidated 

statement of profit of loss for the year under review and reflected in the performance of the respective segment.

In May 2017, the Group further submitted application to extend the claiming period ended from 30 September 

2015 to 31 August 2016 in respect of the Second Taiji Arbitration Application which has been successfully 

accepted by the Arbitration Commission. To avoid possible prolonged legal proceedings, recently the Group 

keeps pursuing on the negotiations with the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji proactively on the possibility 

for the resumption of Hunan Taiji’s production and discussed with the minority shareholder in seeking for any 

feasible solution. The Group believes that the minority shareholder is willing to work together with the Group in 

achieving common goal for the interests of Hunan Taiji and each other as a whole. In addition, the Group will also 

try to explore the possibility to have other sources of supply of granulated steel slag for production from cities 

nearby.

SECURITIES INVESTMENTS

During the year under review, the Group further disposed approximately 57,697,000 (2016: 54,389,000) fully 

paid ordinary shares of its available-for-sale investment for proceeds of approximately HK$6,025,000 (2016: 

HK$5,107,000). There was a realised gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment of approximately 

HK$4,394,000 (2016: HK$3,568,000) recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year 

under review. The Group held less than 5% of the issued share capital of its available-for-sale investment as at 

31 December 2017.

In addition, this segment also recognised fair value losses of approximately HK$432,000 (2016: gains of 

approximately HK$455,000) arising from the securities investments held for trading during the year under review.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

PROPERTY INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

Investment properties in Beijing

In view of the increasing demand of leased office in Beijing, the Group leased its own use office in Beijing 

for earning additional rental income during the year under view. During the year under review, the rental 

income from property leasing in Beijing, the PRC was approximately HK$4,289,000 (2016: HK$3,145,000), 

representing an increase of 36%. All of the Group’s investment properties in Beijing recorded fair value gains of 

approximately HK$5,422,000 (2016: HK$807,000). During the year under review, the property leasing business 

in Beijing recorded a profit of approximately HK$1,133,000 (2016: HK$1,663,000), representing a decrease 

of 32% compared to the same period last year. The decrease in profit from this business was due to interest 

expenses and other finance costs on the secured other borrowing in the sum of HK$3,500,000 (2016: Nil) being 

recognised during the year under review. The Group expects these investment properties in Beijing currently held 

on hand will keep generating a stable rental income stream and capture potential appreciation.

Property development in Peru

During the year under review, the property development business in Peru recorded nil turnover (2016: 

approximately HK$24,426,000) and net loss of approximately HK$5,609,000 (2016: net profit of approximately 

HK$5,416,000). The loss was due to the absence of sale of residential units by Lima Junefield Plaza S.A.C. 

(the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary in Peru, “Lima Junefield Plaza”) during the year under 

review. Currently, Lima Junefield Plaza still retains four units pending for sale. Lima Junefield Plaza is going to 

sell the remaining units when the property market is improving. Meanwhile, the Group has no other property 

development planning.
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OPERATIONS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK (continued)

TRADING OF MINERAL CONCENTRATES BUSINESS

The trading of mineral concentrates business segment principally operates by sourcing mineral concentrates 

mainly from Ecuador and Peru and exporting them to the PRC customers. The Group’s trading of mineral 

concentrates business continued to make gross profit, but nevertheless both the sales volume and gross profit 

margin declined due to the weak demand for mineral concentrates from its major customer in the PRC and keen 

competition in exploring local suppliers with stable supplies in Ecuador during the year under review. The Group 

recorded the revenue of approximately HK$26,953,000 (2016: HK$93,354,000) and net loss of approximately 

HK$4,837,000 (2016: profit of approximately HK$5,694,000), representing significant decreases of 71% and 

185% respectively compared to the same period last year. It was due to the performance of the trading of 

mineral concentrates business engaged in Peru also consolidated into this segment during the year under 

review of which contributed loss at its initial stage and impairment loss on deposits and other receivables of 

approximately HK$5,175,000 (2016: Nil).

As the Group has invested in South America for many years, it has a well-established sourcing network in 

Ecuador and Peru. To enhance the quantity of sales to its major customer, the Group is proactively to explore 

stable and widespread sources of mineral concentrates in South America and expects the performance of this 

segment would improve in the future.

COAL MINING BUSINESS

As the introduction of a selective consumption tax on coal products for domestic energy market by the 

Peruvian government in May 2016, the Group’s coal mine for domestic market in Peru has been suspended 

its production since July 2016 due to unable making a gross profit. During the year under review, this business 

recorded nil turnover (2016: approximately HK$5,055,000) and a net loss of approximately HK$4,288,000 

(2016: HK$8,273,000), representing a decrease of 48% as compared to the same period last year. Currently, the 

Group’s another coal mine particularly for export market has been in the final development stage and this new 

coal mine has started preliminary production in the first quarter of 2018. The Group expects that sales from this 

new coal mine will be recognised in the third quarter of 2018. Upon production, this new coal mine will aim for 

a monthly capacity of around 12,000 tons of coal products. The Group expects that the result of this segment 

will be improved in the second half of 2018. Once the production of the new coal mine becomes stable, the 

Group plans to prepare operation resumption of the coal mine currently under suspension as soon as possible. 

The Group anticipates that the coal products from the suspended coal mine will be for export market, so as to 

achieve synergy in operation with the new coal mine in the future.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had net assets of approximately HK$294,648,000 (2016: 

HK$344,718,000) with total assets of approximately HK$440,295,000 (2016: HK$483,730,000) and total 

liabilities of approximately HK$145,647,000 (2016: HK$139,012,000). The Group’s current ratio, which equals to 

current assets divided by current liabilities, was 1.75 (2016: 1.75).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had secured bank loan, secured other loan and unsecured other 

loan amounted to approximately HK$9,914,000 (2016: HK$11,091,000), HK$25,000,000 (2016: Nil) and 

HK$6,010,000 (2016: HK$5,563,000) respectively. The secured bank loan is denominated in United States 

dollars (“USD”), interest-bearing at an annual rate of London Interbank Offered Rate plus 6.4% per annum and 

will be expired in August 2020. The secured other loan is denominated in HK$, interest-bearing at 8% per 

annum and the repayment date has been further extended to 3 January 2019. The unsecured other loan is 

denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and interest-bearing at 9.5% per annum and repayable on demand. The 

Group’s gearing ratio, as a ratio of total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings to total assets as at 

31 December 2017, was 0.09 (2016: 0.03).

The Group’s cash and bank balances which were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, USD, RMB 

and Peruvian Soles (“Soles”), amounted to approximately HK$34,290,000 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 

HK$33,960,000).

The directors believe that the Group currently has sufficient financial resources for its operations. However, the 

Group will remain cautious in its liquidity management.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

There were no material acquisitions and disposals during the year under review.

BANKING AND OTHER FACILITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had aggregate banking and other facilities of approximately 

HK$39,582,000 (2016: HK$48,340,000) and had unutilised banking and other facilities of approximately 

HK$4,668,000 available for drawdown (2016: HK$37,168,000).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding policies, with a focus on risk 

management and transactions that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had no significant capital commitments (2016: Nil).

CHARGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, prepaid land lease payments 

and investment properties with carrying amounts of approximately HK$46,973,000 (2016: HK$58,329,000), Nil 

(2016: HK$1,290,000) and HK$39,199,000 (2016: HK$30,799,000) respectively have been pledged to bank and 

other lender to secure loan facilities.

OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS

Details of outstanding litigations are set out in note 41 to the financial statements.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

During the year under review, the business activities of the Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong 

dollars, RMB, USD and Soles. The Board does not consider that the Group is significantly exposed to any 

foreign currency exchange risk. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not commit to any 

financial instruments to hedge its potential exchange rate exposure.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had about 172 employees (2016: 165 employees) with the majority based 

in the PRC and Peru. The number of workers employed by the Group varies from time to time depending on 

the industry need and they are remunerated under the employment term which is based on industry practice. 

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are periodically reviewed by the Company’s 

Remuneration Committee and approved by the executive directors. Apart from the pension funds, discretionary 

bonuses and share options are awarded to certain employees according to the assessment of individual 

performance.
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BRIEF BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

 

 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, aged 54, has been the Chairman and an executive director of the Company since 

October 2003 and also the chairman of nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Zhou acted as the Managing 

Director of the Company from 2003 to 2005. He is also currently the president of Junefield (Holdings) Limited 

(“JHL”, the ultimate holding company of the Group) and is responsible for the overall business of JHL. Mr. Zhou 

serves as a member of the Beijing Committee of the People’s Political Consultative Conference（中國人民政

治協商會議北京委員會）in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Zhou has extensive experience in 

managing property development companies and in operating department stores in the PRC. Mr. Zhou is the 

brother of Mr. Zhou Jianren.

Mr. Zhang Min, aged 59, has been the Chief Executive Officer and an executive director of the Company since 

August 2016. Mr. Zhang holds a Bachelor of Philosophy Degree from the Beijing Normal University and a Master 

of Laws Degree from the Renmin University of China.

Mr. Zhang is currently an independent non-executive director of China Eco-Farming Limited (stock code: 8166), 

a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”). Mr. Zhang was also appointed as a non-executive director of China Fortune Financial Group Limited 

(“China Fortune”) (stock code: 290) on 8 December 2010. He was re-designated and appointed as chairman of 

the board, executive director and a member of the remuneration committee of China Fortune from 12 April 2011 

to 30 June 2014. In addition, Mr. Zhang was an independent non-executive director of Silver Base Group 

Holdings Limited (stock code: 886) from 28 January 2011 to 1 April 2014. The aforesaid companies are listed on 

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

He was also the chief marketing officer of the China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd from 28 April 2011 to 

31 August 2013 and was the chief executive of China Construction Bank Corporation, Hong Kong Branch, from 

September 2006 to March 2011, and a director of CCB International (Holdings) Limited and China Construction 

Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited from August 2006 to March 2011. Both CCB International (Holdings) Limited 

and China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Construction 

Bank Corporation (stock code: 939) (together with its subsidiaries referred to as the “CCBC Group”), a joint 

stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, whose issued shares are listed on the Main Board 

of the Stock Exchange. He was the president of the Beijing Banking Association from 2003 to 2005 and the 

Beijing Investment Institution from 2001 to 2006. Mr. Zhang possesses over 20 years’ experience in the banking 

industry through his work with the CCBC Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Zhou Jianren, aged 59, has been an executive director of the Company since July 2014. Mr. Zhou is the 

elder brother of Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the Chairman and an executive director of the Company. He is also 

currently the director and vice president of JHL and is responsible for the business of JHL. Mr. Zhou has more 

than 30 years of experience in international trading. Mr. Zhou also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the 

Company.

Mr. Xiang Xianhong, aged 53, has been an executive director of the Company since November 2011. 

Mr. Xiang had been the general manager of Beijing Junefield Sogo Department Store and currently acts as its 

president since January 2016. Mr. Xiang has extensive experience in education, corporate management, real 

estates, retail and department store sectors. Mr. Xiang holds a Master Degree in Engineering Science from 

the Hua Zhong University of Science and Technology, the PRC and obtained a certificate of senior technical 

qualification from the Ministry of Railways, the PRC. Mr. Xiang also acts as a director of an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary.

Mr. Lei Shuguang, aged 54, has been an executive director of the Company since November 2011 and is 

currently the general manager of Beijing Junefield Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (indirectly-owned as to 

55% by Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the Chairman, an executive director and the controlling shareholder of the 

Company). Mr. Lei has extensive experience in financial management, auditing, energy engineering and real 

estates industries. Mr. Lei holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from the China Europe International 

Business School, the PRC, and has completed the national audit examination of the National Audit Office of the 

PRC. Mr. Lei also acts as a director of an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches, aged 65, has been a non-executive director of the Company since 

December 2011. He obtained his Bachelor Degree in Laws from the Pontificial Catholic University of Peru 

in 1976. He is currently a Peruvian practising solicitor and is a founding partner and major partner of Estudio 

Muñiz, Ramirez, Perez-Taiman & Olaya Abogados, a solicitor firm in Peru. He has extensive experience in the 

Peruvian legal industry and is specialised in commercial law, banking and intellectual property. Mr. Muñiz Ziches 

had a few key appointments with the Ministry of Justice in Peru in relation to the law reform and legislation and 

was a member of the Peruvian Congress. He is currently the Peruvian legal consultant of JHL and, before his 

appointment, had provided independent legal services to an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in 

Peru.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert, aged 62, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 

September 2004 and is the chairman of the audit committee; and a member of each of the remuneration 

committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Lam is a member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England & Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Securities Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, 

Australia • New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and Certified 

Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director of OCI International Holdings Limited 

(formerly known as “Dragonite International Limited”) and Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited, all of which are 

companies listed on the Main Board and the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam 

currently is a partner of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited. He was head of department in Southwest Securities 

International Securities Limited and also the proprietor of Albert Lam & Co. CPA. He was also the director and 

currently is the shareholder and Consultant of Jonten Hopkins & Aoba Group. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree 

in Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the United Kingdom.

Mr. Cao Kuangyu, aged 67, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 

January 2013 and is a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination 

committee. Mr. Cao holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics from Hunan University and a Master Degree in 

Financial Management from the University of London. He has over 30 years of experience in the banking 

industry. Mr. Cao worked in the Bank of China, Hunan branch from 1981 to 1996 and his last position was the 

deputy general manager of the branch. In 1996, Mr. Cao was transferred to the Singapore branch of Bank of 

China as deputy general manager until 1999. Mr. Cao also worked in Citic Bank, Shenzhen branch from 1999 

to 2003 and his last position was the president of the branch. Mr. Cao came to Hong Kong in 2003 when he 

worked as managing director, head of global investment banking division of BOCI Asia Limited until 2007.

Mr. Cao is currently an independent non-executive director of Dongwu Cement International Limited, New 

Silkroad Culturaltainment Limited and Dingyi Group Investment Limited, all of which are companies listed on the 

Stock Exchange. Mr. Cao served as an independent non-executive director of Huili Resources (Group) Limited 

(resigned in September 2017), which is a company listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since 

March 2013 and is the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit committee 

and nomination committee. Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor Degree in Economics and a Bachelor Degree in Law 

from the University of Hong Kong. He also holds two Masters Degrees respectively in Public Administration 

and in Laws from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Cheung has worked in various government departments for 

12 years, and has over 20 years in the practice of company law and civil litigation matters. Currently Mr. Cheung 

is the senior partner of Messrs. Kelvin Cheung & Co., Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Cheung and his law firm have 

been the legal advisors of a number of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, asset fund management firms 

and non-profit making organizations and charities in Hong Kong.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

 

 

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) present their report together with the audited financial 

statements of the Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 

31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Group’s subsidiaries 

are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s principal activities are set out in the section headed “Management 

Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 10 of this annual report and the future development of the Group’s 

business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 3 to 4 of this annual report.

The key financial and business performance indicators are set out in the section headed “Management 

Discussion and Analysis” on page 9 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment and maintaining a good standard 

of corporate social governance essential for creating a framework for motivating employees, and contributes to 

the community to meet our corporate and business of the objectives of the Group. The Group also implemented 

energy saving practices in offices where applicable.

The Group will review its environmental protection practices from time to time and will consider taking more 

effective and efficient measures and practices in the operations. The environmental policies and performance of 

the Group are discussed in more detail in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of 

this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, 

those have significant impact on the Group, such as the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing 

Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the revised Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the 

attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time. As far as the Company is aware, 

it has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 

businesses and operations of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS 
AND OTHERS

The Group intends to reward and recognise performing employees by providing a competitive remuneration 

package and to promote career development and provide opportunities within the Group for career 

advancement. The Group encourages employees participation of external seminars and lectures to keep abreast 

of changes and updates on areas of industrial, legal, compliance, financial accounting and tax knowledge. The 

Group also encourages continuous professional development training for the directors to develop and refresh 

their knowledge and skills which includes seminars, updates on regulatory requirements and development and 

corporate governance practices.

The Group places high priority on maintaining good and long-term relationships with our customers and 

suppliers to ensure efficient delivery of products and services and smooth procurement process respectively.

The Group recognises the importance to protect the interests of shareholders and the importance of having 

communication with them from time to time through annual general meetings, corporate communications, 

interim and annual reports as well as results announcements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

During the year, the Board identified the principal risks which are likely to affect the Group’s business operations 

including volatility and uncertainty in market conditions, changing in industry standards, industry competition and 

financial risks in the ordinary course of business, such as liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. It is 

essential that the Group is able to respond in a timely manner to such changes which may adversely affect the 

Group’s businesses and financial results.

The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the risk management practices of the Group are sufficient to 

mitigate the risks present in our businesses and operations as efficiently and effectively as possible. The Board 

delegates some of its responsibility of risk management to various operational departments. Further reviews 

are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report – Risk Management and Internal Control” on 

page 45 of the annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss on page 53.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil). 

There was no special dividend paid during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: HK18.55 cents per share).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to 

the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of investment properties of the Group are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting to 

approximately HK$779,000 (2016: Nil).
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 87% of the total 

turnover for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for 74%. Purchases from the 

Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 55% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the 

largest supplier included therein accounted for 14%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best 

knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial 

interest in the Group’s five customers and suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2017.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 33 to the financial 

statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to approximately 

HK$181,785,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the Company or the laws of Bermuda which 

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme described below, the Group has not entered into any equity-linked 

agreements during the year.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as 

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 158.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 

securities during the year.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Min (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zhou Jianren

Mr. Xiang Xianhong

Mr. Lei Shuguang

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert

Mr. Cao Kuangyu

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 87, Mr. Lei Shuguang, Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert and 

Mr. Cao Kuangyu will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, shall offer 

themselves for re-election.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant 

to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent Non-Executive Directors met 

the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent.

BRIEF BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Brief biographical details of directors of the Company are set out on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each Director entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of two years, which may be 

terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing.

None of the directors of the Company has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which 

is not determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of compensation (other than 

statutory compensations). Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transaction” on page 21 of this annual report 

and note 42 to the financial statements, no director of the Company had a material interest, either directly or 

indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its holding 

companies and subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the directors of the Company is currently in force and was in 

force throughout the financial year.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides 

appropriate cover for the directors of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders of the 

Company on 29 June 2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to 

provide incentives to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Further 

details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

During the year under review, details of the movements of the outstanding share options granted under the 

Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Number of share options

Date of 
grant Exercisable period

Balance 
as at 

1 January 
2017

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Balance 
as at 

31 December 
2017

Exercise 
price 

per share
(Note 2) HK$

Directors (Note 1) 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 – 5 July 2019 13,280,000 – – 13,280,000 0.229

Notes:

1. Movements of the share options granted to the directors of the Company are shown under the section headed “Directors’ 

and Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” on page 22 of this annual report.

2. No share options have been granted during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The continuing connected transaction of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “2017 

Continuing Connected Transaction”) subject to annual review requirements pursuant to the Listing Rules are set 

out below:

On 20 January 2016, Like Top Corporation Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

entered into the sourcing agent agreement to appoint Ecuamining Mineral S.A. (“Ecuamining Mineral”), as its 

sourcing agent of mineral concentrates or its related products in Ecuador for a term of two years. Ecuamining 

Mineral is a company incorporated in Ecuador and is ultimately owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the 

Chairman, an executive director and a controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Ecuamining Mineral is 

a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules and the transaction under the aforesaid agreement 

constituted a continuing connected transaction of the Group, details of which are set out in the Company’s 

announcement dated 20 January 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the commission charged by Ecuamining Mineral amounted to 

approximately HK$437,000.

The Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the 2017 Continuing Connected Transaction entered into 

by the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 

Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice 

Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by 

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company’s auditors have issued their unqualified 

letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the 2017 Continuing Connected Transaction in 

accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the 2017 Continuing Connected 

Transaction and confirmed that the 2017 Continuing Connected Transaction has entered into (i) in the ordinary 

and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable 

to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance 

with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the 

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Significant related party transactions entered by the Group with parties regarded as “Related Parties” under 

applicable accounting principles for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 42 to the financial 

statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the directors and chief executives of the Company 

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations within the 

meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), which were recorded in the register required 

to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 

Issuers (“Model Code”) were as follows:

(a) LONG POSITION – ORDINARY SHARES OF HK$0.10 EACH OF THE COMPANY

Name of director
Number of 

shares held

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued share capital

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 697,837,417 (Note) 66.75%

Note: These 697,837,417 shares are held by Prime Century Investments Limited (“PCI”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Junefield (Holdings) Limited (“JHL”). Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital of 

JHL.

(b) LONG POSITION IN UNDERLYING SHARES – SHARE OPTIONS

The following directors of the Company have personal interests in options to subscribe for shares of the 

Company:

Number of share options

Name
Date of 
grant

Exercisable 
period

Balance 
as at 

1 January 
2017

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Balance 
as at 

31 December 
2017

Exercise 
price per 

share
HK$

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 – 5 July 2019 9,980,000 – – 9,980,000 0.229

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 6 July 2009 6 July 2009 – 5 July 2019 3,300,000 – – 3,300,000 0.229

13,280,000 – – 13,280,000

Note: The cash consideration paid by each of the directors for the grant of share option is HK$1.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES 
(continued)

(b) LONG POSITION IN UNDERLYING SHARES – SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, so far as is known to the directors and chief 

executives of the Company, no other person had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying 

shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 

XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the register as required to be kept by the Company under section 

352 of the SFO or as otherwise pursuant to the Model Code, notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2017, so far as is known to the directors and chief executives of the Company, the interests 

or short positions of the persons (other than directors or chief executives of the Company) in the shares and 

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 

336 of the SFO were as follows:

Name Capacity and nature of interest

Number of 

shares held

Percentage of 

the Company’s 

issued share 

capital

PCI (Note) Directly beneficially owned 697,837,417 66.75%

JHL (Note) Through a controlled corporation 697,837,417 66.75%

CMBC International  

Holdings Limited

Person having a security interest in 

shares

697,837,417 66.75%

Note: These 697,837,417 shares are held by PCI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of JHL. Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He is the beneficial owner 

of the entire issued share capital of JHL.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Company had not been notified of any person (other 

than the directors or chief executives of the Company) having any interests or short positions in the shares and 

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 

336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in Securities” 

above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or 

debentures of the Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or children under age of 18, or 

were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its holding companies and subsidiaries 

a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, during the year ended 31 December 2017, the following director of 

the Company was considered to have interests in the following businesses which competed or were likely to 

compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, the Chairman, an executive director and the controlling shareholder of the Company, 

currently engages in businesses including property investment, mineral exploitation and related investment 

through a number of private companies (collectively the “Private Group”).

In the event that there are transactions between the Private Group and the Group, Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He, as and 

when required under the Company’s bye-laws, will abstain from voting on any board resolution in respect of any 

contract, arrangement, or proposal in which he or any of his close associates has a material interest.

As the Board is independent from the board of directors of the Private Group and maintains no less than three 

independent non-executive directors, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at 

an arm’s length from, the businesses of the Private Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the 

Company, as at the date of this annual report, at least 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company was 

held by the public as required under the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate Governance Report of the Company is set out on pages 37 to 46 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey 

Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting. There has been no other change in the auditors of the Company in any of 

the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Zhou Chu Jian He

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

 

 

ABOUT THIS REPORT AND ITS SCOPE

This is the second environmental, social and governance report (“ESG Report”) prepared by the Group which 

covers two major businesses of the Group, namely the coal mining business in Peru and the manufacture and 

sale of construction materials business in Hunan province in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The 

reporting period of the ESG Report is from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 which is same as that of the 

annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide 

(“ESG Guide”) contained in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). It follows the “comply or explain” provisions 

of the ESG Guide and extends the scope of reporting to certain key performance indicators (KPI) under the 

“Recommended Disclosures” therein.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s manufacture and sale of the construction materials 

business has being in suspension since its sole supplier suspended the supply of granulated steel slag for 

production since August 2016. In addition, the Group’s coal mining business in Peru has also been suspended 

since July 2016 due to introduction of selective consumption tax in the local market in Peru. As a result, the 

Group has no alternative but to change its marketing strategy and planned to export its coal products to other 

countries in South America to mitigate the additional costs. During the year, the Group developed another coal 

mine particularly for export market which has reached in the final development stage.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group regards communicating and maintaining long-term good relationships with stakeholders and 

responding to their needs forms as an important principle for business operations. The Group have close 

relationships with the stakeholders through establishing effective communication mechanism, so as to ensure 

that the Group understands their expectations and comments and is able to feedback to them in a timely 

manner.
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A ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 EMISSIONS

In the principle of clean production and environmental friendliness, the Group’s operation units 

carry out environmental protection work in strict accordance with local laws and regulations and in 

line with the latest international trends.

As a prerequisite condition for granting permits for production of the coal mines in Peru, the 

Group is required to strictly observe the local laws and regulations on solid waste, air and effluent 

discharge and perform review annually by independent and recognised environment assessment 

professional. Such assessment is to evaluate the compliance of the Group’s environmental 

performance meets the required standards. Before production suspension, the Group’s two major 

businesses strictly observed the relevant environmental protection laws and regulations.

To reduce the greenhouse gas emission resulting from long distance transportation, the Group 

prefers to purchase various materials (including but not limited to wood, granulated steel slag 

and consumables) from local suppliers. Meanwhile, in order to further reduce greenhouse gas 

emissions caused by business trips, the Group has explicit internal guidelines for business trips 

and prefers teleconference or video conference where appropriate.

Before operation suspension, the manufacture and sale of construction materials business has 

coal cinders and the ferrous powder as by-product generated during production are recycled for 

sale, with a view to reducing wastes and making the best use of them. Meanwhile, the Group 

classifies and recycles waste paper and printer cartridges where feasible. The Group also disposes 

of hazardous wastes in strict accordance with local laws and regulations.
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A ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1 EMISSIONS (continued)

The Group strictly observes the relevant laws and regulations on environmental protection. During 

the reporting period, there was no reported case of prosecution against the Group for material 

violation of environmental laws.

Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Carbon Dioxide

Equivalent

(Tonnes)

Greenhouse gas emissions in total 102

Note: The above calculation covers electricity consumption and mobile gasoline consumption.

A2 USE OF RESOURCES

The Group is convinced that it is of utmost importance to make the best use of resources at 

the source through supporting facilities and management, and continually explores ways to 

reduce energy consumption and improve water utilisation efficiency. In an effort to reduce energy 

consumption, the Group has internal guidelines which set out the employees should proactively 

use energy-efficient electrical appliance and promote the use of energy-saving light bulbs. The 

Group also takes certain measures including switch off the power of any idle electrical equipment 

in the office and the temperature of air conditioning in the office should be set at 26℃ according to 

the local conditions, thus improving employees’ habits and greatly reducing power consumption.

As the Group’s coal mines in Peru consume a lot of water in the production and development 

process, the Group emphasizes on water efficiency management and it regularly has water-

consuming facilities inspections in accordance with its internal rules, and carries out timely 

maintenance to avoid water leakage. Furthermore, the Group also advocates to its employees that 

they should cherish and save water to avoid waste. In addition, since the coal mines in Peru has 

not yet obtained a permit to source water from natural sources, water is purchased at nearby by 

using tanker trucks.
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A ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A2 USE OF RESOURCES (continued)

In order to reduce paper consumption, the Group prefers using electronic payments for purchases, 

and has introduced a computerised information system for document management in the 

manufacture and sale of construction materials business, and adopts electronic reading and 

transmission to reduce paper consumption. In addition, all offices are equipped with waste paper 

collection bins for encouraging the employees for recycle use.

Direct and indirect energy consumption:

Type of Energy Energy Consumption

Power 6,160 kWh

Gasoline 376,960 kWh

Total 383,120 kWh

Total Water Consumption Unit

Water consumption in total 3,650 m3

A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group adopts a number of effective environmental management measures to avoid and 

mitigate the impacts on the environment. Before production suspension, the Group’s manufacture 

and sale of construction material business generated dust during production. Therefore, this 

business installed “bag filters” in the factory to purify and filter air, thus effectively reducing dust 

emissions and improving indoor air quality. This business also has a sedimentation tank and 

secondary biochemical treatment of wastewater. The treated wastewater will be recycled and 

reused for dust reduction, road cleaning and watering. On the other hand, the coal mines in 

Peru take measures to reduce fugitive dust, including sprinkling water at the entrances and exits 

and limiting vehicle speed at the production site. Regular inspections and maintenance on the 

machines and equipment are carried out to ensure that they are operated normally and are in good 

conditions for use.
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A ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES (continued)

In respect of the Group’s manufacture and sale of construction materials business, the raw 

materials for production, granulated steel slag, which are by-products of the steel-making process, 

which was disposed as wastes before it is known to be used as a kind of construction material. 

Therefore, the use of slag powder is considered to be environmentally-friendly as it is able to 

recycle and utilise the waste by-product from steel manufacturing. Hence, the Group not only 

attaches great importance to its own environmental performance, but also plays an important role 

across the entire industrial chain.

B SOCIAL

B1 EMPLOYMENT

The Group offers each candidate with a fair recruitment and promotion opportunity in accordance 

with local laws and regulations as well as its internal policies. The Group makes decisions on 

recruitment and promotion based on the work performance, experience and personal capabilities 

of employees, without being affected by gender, age, religious belief, race, disability and other 

factors. The Group also conducts regular reviews and assessments of staff remuneration and 

provides equal promotion opportunities.

In order to enable a work-life balance working environment, the Group’s employees enjoy 

standard working hours and statutory holidays in accordance with local laws and regulations as 

well as additional maternity and paternity leave for female and male employees beyond the legal 

requirements. The Group also provides social and medical insurance for employees, and has 

developed policies on dismissal and retirement according to law, in an effort to safeguard the rights 

and interests of employees in every aspect.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant employment laws. During the reporting period, there was 

no reported case of prosecution against the Group for violation of employment-related laws.
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B SOCIAL (continued)

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays special attention to the occupational safety and protection for the employees, and 

is committed to create a good and safe working environment for them. The Group worked out 

an occupational safety management system in accordance with local laws and regulations, and 

actively took care about employees’ physical conditions through regular medical checks.

In order to improve the safety level in operation sites, the Group worked out a sound safety 

responsibility system, including an occupational safety officer resided in mine fields and factories 

to supervise daily safety management and provide safety training regularly. In addition, the Group 

also held Occupational Health and Safety Day to strengthen employees’ safety awareness and to 

remind them of the importance of safety.

The coal mining business in Peru required underground work, so the mining fields were specially 

built with safety structure, for example, a slope above the ground level was built at the entrance 

of underground tunnel to prevent a large amount of rainwater from entering into and submerging 

the tunnel during the rainy seasons. Due to the particularity of mining safety, the Group offered 

the safety management courses to the management of the coal mining business in Peru, to 

ensure that the mining operations is able to meet the local legal requirements. The Group also 

strengthened training on earthquake, fire disaster and rescue so as to ensure fast emergency 

rescue services to cope with accidents.

Furthermore, by encouraging employees to actively put forward suggestions to improve and 

enhance the safety, employees are participating in building a safe working environment, and taking 

safety measures in operation.

The Group provided its employees with protective equipment that meet local standards. All 

employees were required to wear protective equipment before entering into the work area and 

they were strictly forbidden to work against regulations. Various medical first-aid kits and other 

emergency equipment were also easily available in workplace to enhance the safety of employees.

The Group is committed to improve the safety standards in workplace and create a safety culture 

through employee’s involvement.
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B SOCIAL (continued)

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY (continued)

The Group strictly observes the relevant laws and regulations on occupational safety, and has not 

been charged against any violation of such laws and regulations during the reporting period.

Number and rate of work-related fatalities and lost days  

due to work injury Unit

Number of work-related fatalities 0

Rate of work-related fatalities 0%

Lost days due to work injury 80 days

B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is well aware that the long-term success and development of an enterprise rely on 

excellent management personnel and work teams. The Group regularly reviews the growth and 

development needs of its employees based on their work performance, experience and personal 

capabilities, and then provides fair promotion opportunities and assist its employees to plan their 

career development.

The Group gives new employees pre-employment training to ensure that they can fit in their new 

positions seamlessly. To help employees adapt to the fast-paced development of the society, 

the Group encourages employees to participate in training and provides continuing professional 

training for them, so as to equip them with the knowledge they need for the time being and in the 

future to keep pace with the times.

The Group attachs great importance to the training on occupational safety management for 

employees, including safety management awareness of the management, safety conduct of 

employees as well as the crisis handling in case of earthquake, fire disaster and rescue. The 

Group also encourages employees to attend classes for training on specialized knowledge related 

in order to enhance the Group’s business administration standards. Besides, in consideration of 

the corporate social responsibility concern, the Group’s coal mining business in Peru provided 

employees with special training about community relationship and corporate social responsibility.
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B SOCIAL (continued)

B4 LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group emphasises the prevention of child labour and forced labor and has zero tolerance for 

such inhuman phenomenon.

Before hiring, the Group always takes effective procedures to verify the candidates’ age, 

experiences, qualifications and etc, so as to ensure that the candidates fit for the requirements of 

the positions.

The Group prohibits the use of any forms of forced labour to ensure that all employees work 

voluntarily. It also prohibits any use of forced or indentured labour, physical punishment, 

imprisonment and threats by violence. Based on the principle of fairness and free will, the Group 

never recruits employees by any means of coercion or fraud.

The Group has not hired any child labour or forced labour during the reporting period.

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group is well aware that the performance of its corporate social responsibility requires the 

involvement of its business partners. As such, the Group expects suppliers to implement sound 

measures for environmental and social management. The Group not only expects all suppliers to 

comply with applicable laws and regulations, but also encourages them to continually improve 

their performance. The Group also expects suppliers to effectively manage the environment and 

use resources, implement good employment practices and provide their employees with a good 

working environment in a fair and reasonable manner.

The Group established a sound supplier assessment mechanism, that is, when exploring new 

suppliers, the Group carried out investigations, assessments and set up a list of qualified suppliers, 

and periodically reviewed the qualified suppliers including but not limited to product quality, delivery 

time, price and service quality.
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B SOCIAL (continued)

B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

To bring long-term success, the Group is committed to providing customers with quality 

products and serves the customers with sincerity and respect. The Group has formulated a 

quality management policy with stringent procedures to ensure that the product quality is up to 

standard. In order to meet product quality standards, quality inspectors carry out sampling, sample 

preparation, sample retention and review in accordance with established operational requirements. 

The Group has also formulated policies to ensure fair and accurate published messages, on-time 

delivery, after-sales services and return guarantee for customers.

Given the increasing prevalence of cybercrimes, the Group also attaches great importance to 

information security and requires employees to handle confidential customer data with extreme 

care. The Group also cares about protection of intellectual property rights and prevents any 

infringement of unauthorized designs and products through internal management.

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws on product responsibility. During the reporting 

period, there was no reported case of prosecution against the Group for violation of laws related to 

product responsibility and privacy protection.

B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group prohibits anyone to seek or receive bribes and personal gains through improper means, 

blackmail, fraud or money-laundering by virtue of their positions. Once such behaviours are found, 

the employee will be subject to dismissal and blacklisted for future recruitment. If the case is 

serious, such employee will be transferred to local law-enforcement and judicial authority.

The Group also encourages employees to report any illegal or unethical acts. The Group will 

then handle the reported cases confidentially as well as properly protect the safety of the 

whistleblowers. The Group also encourages employees to report free of undue pressure to the 

management, department head or other appropriate personnel on any suspected or discovered 

illegal or unethical practices and provide relevant information to the management for proper 

handling.

The Group strictly observes the relevant laws and regulations on anti-corruption and bribery 

prevention, and has not been charged against any violation of such laws and regulations during the 

reporting period.
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B SOCIAL (continued)

B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group pays special attention to community benefits and investment, and works to bring 

sustainable benefits to the local community development. The Group’s community investment and 

donation activities are supplementary to its business operation. With close relationship, we can win 

and maintain the trust of our business partners in us.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will consider to implement more initiatives beneficial for the environment, society and 

its corporate governance in the course of operations, including following the latest governmental policies and 

participating in activities organised by relevant organizations.

ESG GUIDE INDEX

General Disclosures and Key Performance Index Page Explanation

A ENVIRONMENTAL
Aspect A1 Emissions
General disclosures 27
KPI A1.1 Types of emissions and respective emissions data Not applicable Note 1
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and its density 28 Note 2
KPI A1.3 Total amount of hazardous wastes produced and its density Not applicable Note 1
KPI A1.4 Total amount of non-hazardous wastes produced and its density Not applicable Note 1
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results 27
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes  

are handled, reduction initiatives and results
27

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

General disclosures 28
KPI A2.1 Direct and indirect energy consumption by type in total and density 29 Note 2
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and density 29 Note 2
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results 28
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water  

that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
28

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, 
with reference to per unit produced

Not applicable Note 1
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General Disclosures and Key Performance Index Page Explanation

A ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Aspect A3 Environment and Natural Resources

General disclosures 29
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 

and natural resources and the actions taken to manage the impact
29

B SOCIAL

Aspect B1 Employment – General disclosures 30
Aspect B2 Health and Safety

General disclosures 31
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 32
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 32
KPI B2.3 Description of the occupational health and safety measures adopted, 

and the related implementation and monitoring methods
31

Aspect B3 Development and Training – General disclosures 32
Aspect B4 Labour Standards – General disclosures 33
Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management – General disclosures 33
Aspect B6 Product Responsibility – General disclosures 34
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption – General disclosures 34
Aspect B8 Community Investment – General disclosures 35

Notes:

1. There was no substantive data available during the reporting period due to absence of productions of the Group’s two major 

businesses and no record being kept for the new coal mine at development stage.

2. No applicable data on density was available during the reporting period.

ESG GUIDE INDEX (continued)



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
 
 

37JUNEFIELD DEPARTMENT STORE GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

 

 

The Company is committed to maintaining good standard of corporate governance practices. The Company 

has adopted all the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the 

“CG Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

For the year under review and up to the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with all the Code 

Provisions as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except for the following deviation:

– Under code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the board should attend the annual general 

meeting. The Chairman of the Board of the Company did not attend the annual general meeting of the 

Company held on 5 June 2017 (“AGM”) due to other business engagement. The Chief Executive Officer, 

the chairman of the Audit Committee and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee were present at 

the AGM to answer the shareholders’ questions.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions 

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code 

of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with 

the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2017 after specific enquiry.

The Company believes that the current procedures to remind all Directors and senior management of the Group 

to follow strictly with the Model Code prior to publication of the Group’s interim and final results remain sufficient 

to prevent non-compliance with the Model Code.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises nine Directors and is of the opinion that it has a balance of skill and experience 

based on the following composition:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Min (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zhou Jianren

Mr. Xiang Xianhong

Mr. Lei Shuguang

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muñiz Ziches

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert

Mr. Cao Kuangyu

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai

At least one of the Independent Non-Executive Directors possess appropriate professional qualification and/

or experience in accounting and/or related financial management expertise. Throughout the year ended 

31 December 2017, the Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each Non-

Executive Director or Independent Non-Executive Director has entered into a service contract with the Company 

for a period of two years until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions specified therein.

The brief biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report. Save as 

disclosed above, there are no other relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant 

relationships) among members of the Board.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The regular Board meetings are scheduled to be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly 

intervals and additional meetings are held as and when the Board thinks appropriate. Board meetings involve 

active participation, either in person or through other electronic means of communication, of a majority of 

Directors. During the year, the Board held four regular Board meetings. Details of Directors’ attendance at the 

Board meetings, committee meetings and the AGM are set out below:

Meetings Attended/Held

Directors

Regular 
Board 

Meeting
Audit 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee AGM

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 2/4 – 0/1 – 0/1
Mr. Zhang Min 3/4 – – – 1/1
Mr. Zhou Jianren 4/4 – – – 1/1
Mr. Xiang Xianhong 4/4 – – – 0/1
Mr. Lei Shuguang 4/4 – – – 0/1

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose

Muñiz Ziches 2/4 – – – 0/1

Independent Non- 
Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 4/4 2/2 1/1 0/1 1/1
Mr. Cao Kuangyu 3/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 0/1
Mr. Cheung Ka Wai 3/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1

Notice of at least 14 days is given to all Directors in advance for regular Board meetings. For other Board 

meetings, reasonable notice period is given. Meeting agendas and other relevant information are normally 

provided to the Directors at least 3 days in advance of the Board meetings. All Directors are consulted to include 

additional matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

The company secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all Board and committee meetings which are 

recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered. Both draft and final versions of the minutes are 

sent to all Directors for their comments and records. Directors have access to the advice and services of the 

company secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board meeting procedures are followed. 

The company secretary will arrange induction package covering regulatory obligations for each newly appointed 

Director.
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DIRECTORS’ COMMITMENTS

Each Director has reported his time commitment on the affairs of the Company and other major appointment 

for 2017 to the Company. Apart from Mr. Zhang Min is currently an independent non-executive director of China 

Eco-Farming Limited (Stock Code: 8166), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock 

Exchange, none of the Executive Directors hold any directorship in any other public companies during 2017. In 

respect of those Directors who stand for re-election at the coming annual general meeting, all their directorships 

held in listed public companies in the past three years are set out in the circular thereof.

The Company encourages the participation of ongoing professional trainings by individual Director at the 

Company’s expenses and has circulated training materials including update on regulation of listed issuers, 

publication of environmental, social and governance report and capital market update to all Directors 

during 2017. The training participation by individual Director during 2017 is summarised as below:

Reading
legal and

regulatory
updates

Attending
seminars/

briefings

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 3 –

Mr. Zhang Min 3 –

Mr. Zhou Jianren 3 –

Mr. Xiang Xianhong 3 –

Mr. Lei Shuguang 3 –

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose Muniz Ziches 3 –

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 3 3

Mr. Cao Kuangyu 3 –

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai 3 3
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

On top of the regulatory and statutory responsibilities, the main duties of the Board include formulating strategy 

as well as monitoring and controlling operating and financial performance of the Group. The Board is also 

responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible 

and effective manner. All Directors (including Independent Non-Executive Directors) have been consulted on 

major and material matters of the Company and have been encouraged to make active contribution to the affairs 

of the Board. All Directors are aware of their collective and individual responsibilities to the shareholders of the 

Company and are committed to act in good faith and make decisions in the best interests of both the Group 

and the shareholders of the Company. The Board delegates day-to-day management of the businesses of the 

Group to the management of the relevant principal divisions. The Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration 

Committee and Nomination Committee have been set up to assist the Board to discharge its duties and to 

oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. All Committees have specific functions and authority to 

examine issues and report to the Board with recommendations. The final decisions are rested with the Board, 

unless otherwise provided in terms of reference of the relevant Committees.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions as set out in the code provision 

D.3.1 of the CG Code and has adopted the latest corporate governance code manual (including continuous 

professional development of directors, the compliance of the Model Code, etc) since March 2016. In addition, 

the Company’s employee whistleblowing guidelines has also been in place since March 2012. The records 

under the manual have been maintained by the company secretary. Liability insurance for the Company’s 

directors and senior management was maintained by the Company with coverage for any legal liabilities which 

may arise in the course of performing their duties.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group 

for the year ended 31 December 2017 that give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group in 

accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Board is responsible for 

presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects. The 

Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast significant 

doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, the consolidated financial 

statements were prepared on a going concern basis. The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding 

their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on 

pages 47 to 52 of this annual report.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The role of the chairman of the board and the chief executive officer are segregated and are not exercised by the 

same individual. Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He is the Chairman and is responsible for the leadership and the effective 

operation of the Board. Mr. Zhang Min is the Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for the day-to-day 

management of the businesses in all aspects effectively, the implementation of the strategies approved by the 

Board, the development and formulation of business plans, budgets and financial objectives for consideration 

by the Board, and the establishment and maintenance of proper internal controls and risk management systems 

with the support of the Company’s Audit Committee.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent Non-Executive Directors serve the relevant function of bringing independent judgment on the 

development, performance and risk management of the Group. Their presence and participation also enable 

the Board to maintain good standards of compliance in financial and other mandatory reporting requirements, 

and provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company 

and the Company. Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has been appointed for a term of two 

years and subject to retirement by rotation at annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for 

re-election. The Independent Non-Executive Directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company’s corporate 

communications.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in 2005. The Remuneration Committee comprises three 

Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert, Mr. Cao Kuangyu and Mr. Cheung 

Ka Wai. Mr. Cheung Ka Wai is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The principal responsibility of the 

Remuneration Committee includes making recommendation to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure 

for all remuneration of directors and senior management and reviewing the specific remuneration packages of 

all Executive Directors and senior management by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the 

Board. The remuneration of Directors are based on the skill and contribution in the Company’s affairs and are 

determined by reference to duties and responsibilities of the Executive Directors after considering the Group’s 

performance and the prevailing market situations including salaries paid by comparable companies. No Director 

is involved in determining his own remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are 

available at the Company’s website. During 2017, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting with 67% 

attendance of its members and performed its duties in accordance with its terms of reference and reviewed 

the remuneration packages of the Directors and remuneration policies. The remuneration paid to each Director 

for 2017 are shown in note 8 to the financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Nomination Committee was set up in 2012 to review and make recommendations for new 

candidates to the Board. The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director (Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He 

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee)) and three Independent Non-Executive Directors (Mr. Lam Man Sum, 

Albert, Mr. Cao Kuangyu and Mr. Cheung Ka Wai). The Nomination Committee will assess new candidates 

based on their skills, experience and who, in its opinion, are able to make positive contribution to the 

performance of the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the Company’s 

website.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on 

the Board. The Nomination Committee is also responsible to review the policy and any measurable objectives 

as may be adopted from time to time and to review the progress on achieving the objectives. The Company 

seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to 

skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and other qualities. The Company will also 

take into account of its own business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the optimum 

composition of the Board. Although the Board supports the principle of diversity, it currently does not intend to 

fix a diversity quota for Board members appointment or set a short term objective on gender diversity, for such 

policies may compromise on the calibre of Directors.

During 2017, the Nomination Committee held one meeting, with 75% attendance of its members, to review 

the Board’s structure, size and composition to ensure that it has a balance of knowledge and experience 

appropriate to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. In accordance with the bye-laws of the 

Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time (or, if their number is not a 

multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided 

that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at 

least once every three years. The Directors shall have the power to appoint any person as a director either to fill 

a casual vacancy on the Board or, subject to authorisation by the members in general meeting, as an addition 

to the existing Board but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed any maximum number 

determined by the members in that general meeting. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office 

only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at 

that meeting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 1999 and currently comprises three Independent Non-Executive 

Directors, namely Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert, Mr. Cao Kuangyu and Mr. Cheung Ka Wai, and is chaired 

by Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert. The chairman of the Audit Committee possesses appropriate professional 

qualifications and/or experience in accounting and/or related financial management expertise as required under 

Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of 

reference of the Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2017 with 100% attendance of its members. During the year, 

the Audit Committee provided accounting and financial advices and recommendations to the Board as well 

as reviewed the independence of external auditors and relevant auditing matters. Also, the Audit Committee 

reviewed the risk management and internal control system of the Group and transactions with connected 

persons and the caps for continuing connected transactions. The Group’s unaudited interim results for the 

six months ended 30 June 2017 and audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2017 have 

been reviewed by the Audit Committee which was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant financial 

statements complied with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure 

has been made.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been audited by 

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. During the year, the fee in respect of audit service provided by 

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited was approximately HK$880,000 (2016: HK$830,000). The fee paid to 

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited for non-audit services relating to assisting in reviewing the disclosure of 

interim financial report was HK$200,000 (2016: HK$200,000).
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibilities for the establishment and maintenance of an 

adequate and effective risk management and internal control system to safeguard the Group’s assets against 

unauthorised use or disposition, and to protect the interest of shareholders of the Company. Furthermore, the 

risk management and internal control system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure and 

can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

On-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks of the Group has been 

established. Business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated with their 

respective units. The results of evaluation will be reported to management through regular internal meetings 

associated with the list of risks identified and management’s assessment on the impact to the Group. The Board 

discussed the risk identified and evaluates the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system.

The Group is of the view that an effective risk management and internal control system is in place which 

encompasses sound control environment, appropriate segregation of duties, well-defined policies and 

monitoring procedures and is reviewed and enhanced by the management at regular intervals.

The Group is committed to maintaining and upholding good corporate governance practices, risk management 

and internal control system. In respect of the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group engaged external 

consultants to perform review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system of the 

Group’s major operating subsidiaries at least once a year and make recommendations for improvement and 

strengthening of its risk management and internal control system. Based on the reports on the findings from 

the external consultants, the Board considered the Group’s risk management and internal control system were 

effective during the year.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the Company has formulated its guidelines, 

with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation 

of the inside information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the company secretary attended relevant professional training for not 

less than 15 hours.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, special general meetings may be convened by the Board upon requisition 
by any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share capital of the Company and the securities 
being held carrying the right of voting at any general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall make a 
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place of 
business at Rooms 2801 & 2802A, 28/F., Windsor House, 311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong 
(“Head Office”), specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and the 
proposal regarding any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT A GENERAL MEETING

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary at the Company’s 
head office and principal place of business at its Head Office, specifying the shareholding information of the 
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding 
any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the company 
secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place of business at its Head Office. Shareholders may 
also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year ended 
31 December 2017.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Directors are aware of the importance of maintaining good relations and communications with shareholders 
of the Company. The Company continues to promote investor relations and communication with its investors. 
The Company uses a range of communication tools, such as annual general meetings, annual and interim 
reports, various notices, announcements and circulars etc, to ensure its shareholders are kept informed of the 
Company’s information.

The Company has maintained a website at http://junefield.etnet.com.hk, which serves as a platform for 
corporate communications with its shareholders and the general public. All corporate communications required 
under the Listing Rules are displayed (for documents published in the previous 5 years) on the Company’s 
website, which has established procedures to ensure timely update in compliance with the Listing Rules.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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TO THE MEMBERS OF
JUNEFIELD DEPARTMENT STORE GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) 

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Junefield Department Store Group Limited 
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 53 to 156, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been 
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment on other intangible assets

Refer to note 17 to the financial statements.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other intangible 

assets as at 31 December 2017 were approximately 

HK$66,779,000.

The carrying amounts of other intangible assets are 

reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 

not be recoverable. Determining whether there is any 

indication of impairment of the carrying amounts of the 

other intangible assets requires significant judgement.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the other 

intangible assets were allocated to cash-generating units 

(“CGUs”), and the recoverable amounts of the CGUs 

were determined by management based on value-in-use 

calculations using cash flow projections. In carrying out 

the impairment assessments, significant judgement was 

used to appropriately identify CGUs and to determine the 

key assumptions, including operating margins, growth 

rates and discount rates, underlying the value-in-use 

calculations.

Our procedures in relation to management’s 

impairment assessment on other intangible assets 

included:

• Discussing indicators of possible impairment 

with the management and challenge the 

validity and completeness of indicators 

identi f ied, where such indicators were 

identified, assessing the impairment testing 

performed by management;

• Assessing management’s identification of 

CGUs based on the Group’s accounting 

policies and our understanding of the Group’s 

business;

• Assessing the value-in-use calculations 

methodologies adopted by the management;

• Assess ing the reasonableness of key 

assumptions (including operating margins, 

growth rates and discount rates) based on our 

knowledge of the business and industry; and

• Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, 

such as approved budgets and considering 

the reasonableness of these budgets.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 15 to the financial statements.

Management has estimated the fair value of the 

Group’s investment properties to be approximately 

HK$75,105,000 as at 31 December 2017 with 

fair value gains on investment properties for the 

year ended 31 December 2017 recorded in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss of approximately 

HK$5,422,000. Independent external valuation was 

obtained in respect of the investment properties. The 

valuation is dependent on certain assumptions, which 

are subject to uncertainties and might materially differ 

from the actual results. Reasonable consideration has 

been given to the underlying assumptions that are mainly 

based on market condition existing at the end of the 

reporting period.

Our procedures in relation to management’s 

valuation of investment properties included:

• Evaluation of the independent professional 

qualified valuer’s competence, capabilities 

and objectivity;

• Engaging a valuation expert in assisting 

to assess the methodology used and the 

appropriateness of the key assumptions; and

• Checking on the accuracy and relevance of 

the input data used.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 

auditors’ report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other 

Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for 

overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue auditors’ report that 

includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda 

Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to 

any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Lo Kin Kei.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Kin Kei

Practising Certificate Number: P06413

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue 5 36,275 154,401
Cost of sales and services (31,038) (147,551)

Gross profit 5,237 6,850
Other income and gains 5 21,723 3,490
Selling and distribution expenses - (949)
Administrative expenses (46,374) (39,771)
Other operating expenses (34,603) (13,306)
Fair value gains on investment properties 15 5,422 807
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investment 4,394 3,568
Impairment loss on other intangible assets 17 (14,782) (11,686)

Operating loss from continuing operations 6 (58,983) (50,997)
Finance costs 7 (4,908) (884)

Loss before tax from continuing operations (63,891) (51,881)
Income tax credit 10 1,029 2,195

Loss for the year from continuing operations (62,862) (49,686)

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 11 – (1,953)

Loss for the year (62,862) (51,639)

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (44,895) (36,495)
Non-controlling interests (17,967) (15,144)

(62,862) (51,639)

Loss per share attributable to owners of  
the Company 12

Basic and diluted (HK cents per share)
- For loss for the year (4.29) (3.50)

- For loss from continuing operations (4.29) (3.27)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (62,862) (51,639)

Other comprehensive income/(expense), net of tax

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Gain on revaluation upon reclassification from property, plant and 

equipment and prepaid land lease payments to investment properties 2,744 –

Deferred tax liability on recognition of gain on revaluation upon 

reclassification from property, plant and equipment and 

prepaid land lease payments to investment properties (1,612) –

1,132 –

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Change in fair value of available-for-sale investment 2,275 7,007

Reclassification adjustments relating to  

disposal of available-for-sale investment (4,519) (3,568)

Release of exchange fluctuation reserve upon 

disposal of discontinued operations – 1

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 13,904 (12,809)

11,660 (9,369)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax 12,792 (9,369)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (50,070) (61,008)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (37,002) (41,404)

Non-controlling interests (13,068) (19,604)

(50,070) (61,008)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 149,400 163,499
Investment properties 15 75,105 63,023
Prepaid land lease payments 16 19,399 19,676
Other intangible assets 17 66,779 78,766
Available-for-sale investment 19 2,064 5,939
Deferred tax assets 32 357 504

Total non-current assets 313,104 331,407

Current assets
Stock of properties 20 5,768 5,539
Inventories 21 12,829 11,073
Loan receivable 22 397 2,800
Accounts receivable 23 1,105 9,890
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24 58,473 74,710
Amounts due from related companies 25 13,196 12,786
Financial instruments at fair value through  

profit or loss 27 1,047 1,479
Tax recoverable 86 86
Cash and bank balances 28 34,290 33,960

Total current assets 127,191 152,323

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 29 5,169 15,666
Other payables and accruals 30  47,612 55,865
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 31 9,728 6,796
Amount due to the ultimate holding company 26 29 26
Amounts due to related companies 26 3,818 2,266
Tax payable 6,428 6,662

Total current liabilities 72,784 87,281

Net current assets 54,407 65,042

Total assets less current liabilities 367,511 396,449
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

At 31 December 2017
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 31 31,196 9,858
Deferred tax liabilities 32 41,667 41,873

Total non-current liabilities 72,863 51,731

Net assets 294,648 344,718

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 33 104,540 104,540
Reserves 35 137,296 174,298

241,836 278,838
Non-controlling interests 52,812 65,880

Total equity 294,648 344,718

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2018 

and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhou Chu Jian He Zhang Min

Director  Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital

Share 
premium 
account

Capital 
reserve

Statutory 
surplus 
reserve

Share 
option 

reserve

Investments
revaluation 

reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

Non– 
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note 33) (Note 35) (Note 35)

At 1 January 2016 102,440 73,048 19,170 18,380 4,318 – – 5,860 286,142 509,358 82,721 592,079

Profit or loss – – – – – – – – (36,495) (36,495) (15,144) (51,639)

Other comprehensive income/(expense)
Change in fair value of available–for–sale investment – – – – – 7,007 – – – 7,007 – 7,007
Reclassification adjustments relating to disposal of 

available–for–sale investment – – – – – (3,568) – – – (3,568) – (3,568)
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve upon 

disposal of discontinued operations – – – – – – – 1 – 1 – 1
Exchange differences on translation  

of foreign operations – – – – – – – (8,349) – (8,349) (4,460) (12,809)

Total comprehensive income/(expense)  
for the year – – – – – 3,439 – (8,348) (36,495)  (41,404) (19,604) (61,008)

Issue of shares upon exercise of share options 2,100 5,354 – – (2,645) – – – – 4,809 – 4,809
Share issue expenses – (3) – – – – – – – (3) – (3)
2016 special dividend paid – – – – – – – – (193,922) (193,922) – (193,922)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) – – (19,170) – – – – – 19,170 – 2,763 2,763

At 31 December 2016 104,540 78,399 – 18,380 1,673 3,439 – (2,488) 74,895 278,838 65,880 344,718

At 1 January 2017 104,540 78,399 – 18,380 1,673 3,439 – (2,488) 74,895 278,838 65,880 344,718

Profit or loss – – – – – – – – (44,895) (44,895) (17,967) (62,862)

Other comprehensive income/(expense),  
net of tax

Gain on revaluation upon reclassification from 
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land 
lease payments to investment properties – – – – – – 2,744 – – 2,744 – 2,744

Deferred tax liability on recognition of gain on 
revaluation upon  reclassification from property, 
plant and equipment and prepaid land lease 
payments to investment properties – – – – – – (1,612) – – (1,612) – (1,612)

Change in fair value of available–for–sale investment – – – – – 2,275 – – – 2,275 – 2,275
Reclassification adjustments relating to disposal of 

available–for–sale investment – – – – – (4,519) – – – (4,519) – (4,519)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations – – – – – – – 9,005 – 9,005 4,899 13,904

Total comprehensive (expense)/income 
 for the year, net of tax – – – – – (2,244) 1,132 9,005 (44,895) (37,002) (13,068) (50,070)

At 31 December 2017 104,540 78,399 – 18,380 1,673 1,195 1,132 6,517 30,000 241,836 52,812 294,648
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax 

From continuing operations (63,891) (51,881)
From discontinued operations – (1,680)

(63,891) (53,561)
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 7 4,908 884
Interest income (319) (462)
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and 

equipment – (13)
Gain on disposal of available-for sale investment (4,394) (3,568)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 11 – 2,577
Fair value gains on investment properties 15 (5,422) (807)
Fair value losses/(gains) on equity investments at  

fair value through profit or loss 104 (146)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 23,994 22,859
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 16 446 496
Amortisation of other intangible assets 17 8,651 12,395
Written off of items of property, plant and equipment 958 –
Written off of other intangible assets 

 – exploration and evaluation assets 17 – 2,768
Impairment loss on other intangible assets 17 14,782 11,686
Impairment loss on accounts receivable 23 1,000 –
Impairment loss on deposits and other receivables 24 6,391 –

(12,792) (4,892)
Decrease in stock of properties – 16,606
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,756) 11,455
Decrease/(increase) in equity investments  

at fair value through profit or loss 328 (309)
Decrease in accounts receivable 7,785 4,134
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and  

other receivables 9,674 (6,724)
Increase in amounts due from related companies (410) (1,034)
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable (10,497) 2,359
Decrease in other payables and accruals (9,303) (33,591)
Increase in amounts due to related companies 1,552 947

Cash used in operations (15,419) (11,049)
Bank interest received 52 90
Overseas tax refunded – 341
Overseas tax paid (2,403) (273)

Net cash flows used in operating activities (17,770) (10,891)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 172 348
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (2,071) (19,708)
Proceed from disposal of items of property,  

plant and equipment – 34
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investment 6,025 5,107
Proceeds from disposal of share options – 196
Additions to other intangible assets (5,854) (1,487)
Purchases of unlisted financial instruments at  

fair value through profit or loss – (8,148)
Receipt of loan receivable 2,581 –
Release of unlisted financial instruments at  

fair value through profit or loss – 8,172
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents  

in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries – 204,711
Decrease of restricted cash 498 1,777
Increase in short-term time deposits – (5,394)

Net cash flows from investing activities 1,351 185,608

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (2,358) (330)
Loan arrangement fee paid (1,500) –
Proceeds from issue of shares under  

share option scheme – 4,809
Share issue expenses – (3)
New bank and other loan 25,000 11,091
Repayment of bank loan (1,241) –
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to the ultimate  

holding company 3 (12)
Dividends paid – (193,922)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 19,904 (178,367)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,485 (3,650)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 33,373 40,438
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (2,657) (3,415)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 34,201 33,373

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND  
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 28 34,290 33,960
Less: Restricted cash (89) (587)

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 
statement of cash flows 34,201 33,373
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Junefield Department Store Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda with limited 

liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company are 

disclosed in the corporate information section on page 2 of this annual report.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were involved in 

the following principal activities:

• property investment and development;
• manufacture and sale of construction materials;
• securities investments;
• trading of mineral concentrates;
• coal mining;
• sale of parts of mining equipment; and
• provision of aircraft sub-leasing services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company of the Company is Prime Century 

Investments Limited (“PCI”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), and the ultimate 

holding company of the Company is Junefield (Holdings) Limited (“JHL”), a company incorporated in 

Hong Kong.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ and fully paid of equity
registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name and operations registered capital the Company activities

Directly held
Junefield Energy  

Holdings Limited
BVI United States

dollars (“USD”) 1
100 Investment holding

Topshine Reward Limited BVI USD50,000 100 Investment holding

Indirectly held
Best Yield Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 Securities investments
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Indirectly held (continued)
Compañia Minera Caminante  

S.A.C.
Peru Peruvian Soles 

(“Soles”) 10,000
100 Searching, prospection, 

exploration, development, 
transport and sale of 

coal and related  
mining activities

Ever Park Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100 Property investment

Golden Talent  
Development Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100 Property investment

Grade Honor  
Investments Limited

BVI USD1 100 Investment holding

Hunan Taiji Construction Material  
Co., Ltd. (“Hunan Taiji”)

(i) The People’s  
Republic of China  
(“PRC”)

USD11,000,000 60 Manufacture and 
sale of construction 

materials

Junefield (Building Material) Limited 
(“Junefield Building Material”)

Hong Kong HK$2 100 Investment holding

Junefield High Value Metals 
Investments Limited 

Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 Securities investments

Junefield Metal Development S.A.C. Peru Soles 28,000 100 Trading of  
mineral concentrates  
and sales of parts of  

mining equipment

Like Top Corporation Limited 
(“Like Top”)

Hong Kong HK$1 100 Trading of mineral 
concentrates

Link Wide Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 Investment holding

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ and fully paid of equity
registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name Note and operations registered capital the Company activities
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Indirectly held (continued)
Lima Airlines S.A.C.  

(“Lima Airlines”)
Peru Soles 11,467,751 100 Provision of  

aircraft sub-leasing  
services

Lima Junefield Plaza S.A.C. Peru Soles 7,848,316 100 Promotion and 
development of  

real estate projects

Minera RC S.A.C. Peru Soles 7,286,874 100 Mining exploration and 
development

Mining Coal Corporation S.A.C. Peru Soles 10,000 100 Mining exploration

Talent Note Limited BVI USD3 100 Investment holding

莊勝 (北京) 房地產經 
紀有限公司 (Junefield (Beijing) 
Property Agency Co., Ltd.*)

(ii) PRC USD100,000 100 Property agency

Notes:

(i) The subsidiary is registered as contractual joint venture under the PRC law.

(ii) The subsidiary is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 

affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give 

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

* English name for identification purposes only

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ and fully paid of equity
registration share capital/ attributable to Principal

Name Note and operations registered capital the Company activities
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong 

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. These financial 

statements also complied with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 

and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 

Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), 

directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has 

rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 

investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 

an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, 

using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which 

the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 

parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 

relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 

there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy 

for subsidiaries above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 

accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 

of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 

differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair 

value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s 

share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or 

loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial 

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12 included in  

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 

2014-2016 Cycle

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Clarification of  

the Scope of HKFRS 12

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of Amendments to HKAS 7, the adoption of the 

above amendments has had no significant financial effect on these financial statements.

AMENDMENTS TO HKAS 7 DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE

Disclosure has been made in note 38 to the financial statements upon the adoption of amendments 

to HKAS 7, which require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 

evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash 

flows and non-cash changes.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions1

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4  

Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to HKFRS 10  

and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture4

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

Annual Improvements 

2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 281

Annual Improvements 

2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 232

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described 

below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016 that address three main areas: the effects 

of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the 

classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding a certain 

amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-based payment; and 

accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction 

changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the approach 

used to account for vesting conditions when measuring equity-settled share-based payments also 

applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments introduce an exception so that a 

share-based payment transaction with net share settlement features for withholding a certain amount in 

order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based 

payment transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the 

terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction are modified, with the result 

that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for 

as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification. On adoption, entities are required to 

apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective application is permitted if they 

elect to adopt for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group will adopt the amendments 

from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s 

financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the 

financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard 

introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. 

The Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will not restate comparative information 

and will recognise any transition adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018. 

During 2017, the Group has performed a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. 

The expected impacts relate to the classification and measurement and the impairment requirements are 

summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the 

classification and measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue measuring at fair 

value all financial assets currently held at fair value. Equity investments currently held as available 

for sale will be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income as the investments 

are intended to be held for the foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply the option to 

present fair value changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in other 

comprehensive income for the equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the 

investments are derecognised.

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded at amortised cost or at fair 

value through other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial 

guarantee contracts that are not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, 

to be recorded based on an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a 

lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses 

that are estimated based on the present values of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of 

its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply the general approach and record twelve-

month expected credit losses that are estimated based on the possible default events on its other 

receivables within the next twelve months.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from 

contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the 

consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a 

customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising 

revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, 

including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in 

contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. 

The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. Either a full 

retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption is required on the initial application of the 

standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation 

issues on identifying performance obligations, application guidance on principal versus agent and 

licences of intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure a 

more consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of 

applying the standard. The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise 

the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 

January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements only to contracts that are not 

completed before 1 January 2018. The Group expects that the transitional adjustment to be made on 

1 January 2018 upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be material and the application of HKFRS 15 

in the future will not have a material impact on the amounts reported in the Group’s financial statements 

based on existing business model as at 31 December 2017 but more disclosures relating to revenue may 

be required.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases , HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether 

an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases – Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 

Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the 

principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees 

to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for 

lessees – leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a 

lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing 

the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use 

asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless 

the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of 

property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently 

increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will 

be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation 

expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the 

occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in future lease payments 

resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally 

recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-

use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under 

HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 

17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors 

to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard 

using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 

16 from 1 January 2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and 

is considering whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical expedients available and which 

transition approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in note 40(b) to the financial statements, 

at 31 December 2017, the Group had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 

leases in aggregate of approximately HK$309,000. Upon adoption of HKAS 16, certain amounts included 

therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis, 

however, will be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be 

recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value assets and short 

term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of 

adoption.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify when an entity should transfer property, including 

property under construction or development, into or out of investment property. The amendments state 

that a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment 

property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the 

use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should be applied 

prospectively to the changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period 

in which the entity first applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of property 

held at the date that it first applies the amendments and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the 

conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only permitted if it is possible without the 

use of hindsight. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2018. The 

amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Of those standards, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 will be applicable for the Group’s financial year ending 

31 December 2018. Whilst management has performed a detailed assessment of the estimated impacts 

of these standards, that assessment is based on the information currently available to the Group, 

including expectations of the application of transitional provision options and policy choices. The actual 

impacts upon adoption could be different to those above, depending on additional reasonable and 

supportable information being made available to the Group at the time of applying the standards and the 

transitional provisions and policy options finally adopted.

Other than as explained above, the Group is in the process of making an assessment on what the impact 

of the other new or revised HKFRSs is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has 

concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results or 

operations and financial position.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the 

equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence 

is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control 

or joint control over those policies.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at 

the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. 

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s 

share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates is included in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In 

addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group 

recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are 

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses 

provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of 

associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained 

interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 

method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the 

joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference 

between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint 

control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or 

loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with 

HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial instruments and equity investments at 

fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 

date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence 

of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the 

most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is 

measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 

market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 

data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 

the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 

each reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required 

(other than inventories, financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is 

estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in 

use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 

does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 

assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 

asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in 

which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that 

previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication 

exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset 

other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have 

been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in 

the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal 

of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued 

asset.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RELATED PARTIES (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or 

fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of either the 

Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 

personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as 

held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and 

is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 

comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working 

condition and location for its intended use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION (continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as 

repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is 

incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is 

capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant 

and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual 

assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant 

and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this 

purpose are as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings 20 to 30 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 6 years

Plant and machinery 4 to 12 years

Office equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 6 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item 

is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual 

values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at 

each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain 

or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is 

derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant 

asset.

Construction in progress represents a building, leasehold improvements and plant and machinery 

under construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost 

comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds 

during the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of 

property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an 

operating lease for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held 

to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of 

goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such 

properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting 

period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the 

statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, 

the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and 

equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the 

carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the 

policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 

assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives 

of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 

subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 

indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the 

cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset 

with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to 

be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on 

a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL) (continued)

Mining rights

Mining rights are initially measured at cost. The carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is 

reclassified to mining rights when the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral 

resources are demonstrable. Mining rights with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated 

amortisation and any identified impairment losses. The mining rights with finite useful lives are amortised 

on a unit of production basis over the estimated economic reserve of the mine.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are recognised at cost on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of exploration rights and the expenditures incurred in 

the search for mineral resources as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and commercial 

viability of extracting those resources. When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting 

mineral resources become demonstrate, previously recognised exploration and evaluation assets are 

reclassified as either intangible assets or property, plant and equipment. These assets are assessed for 

impairment before reclassification, and any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than 

legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased 

asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with 

the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under 

capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance leases, are included in 

property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated 

useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss 

so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance 

leases, but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

LEASES (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 

accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under 

operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are 

credited to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group 

is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are 

charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently 

recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are 

measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, 

except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 

or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include available-for-sale investment, cash and bank balances, loan 

receivable, accounts receivable, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, 

amounts due from related companies and financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial 

assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 

classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, 

including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are 

designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at 

fair value with positive net changes in fair value and negative net changes in fair value presented in the 

statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned 

on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue 

recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at 

the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair 

value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and 

the host contracts are not held for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These 

embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement 

of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that 

significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial 

asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost 

is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 

other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised 

in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investment

Available-for-sale financial investment is non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity 

investments and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are 

neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities 

in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be 

sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investment is subsequently measured at fair value, with 

unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment 

revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when 

the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the investment revaluation reserve to the statement of 

profit or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments are 

reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Available-for-sale financial investment (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investment cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in 

the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the 

various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such 

investment is stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the 

near term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial 

assets due to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management 

has the ability and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the 

date of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that 

has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using 

the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also 

amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently 

determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or 

loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 

position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 

“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 

and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 

passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of 

ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to 

the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated 

liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights 

and obligations that the Group has retained.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that 

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 

the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment 

may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy 

or other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in 

the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 

defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists 

individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are 

not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 

individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial 

assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets 

that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, 

recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 

not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial 

asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced 

carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of 

measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written 

off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been 

transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 

of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 

increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is 

credited to other expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investment

For available-for-sale financial investment, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period 

whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of 

any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a 

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated 

against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has 

been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as 

the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 

investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss – is removed from other comprehensive 

income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments 

classified as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their 

fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In making this judgement, 

the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment 

is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 

appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of 

directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable, financial liabilities included in other payables and 

accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and amounts due to the ultimate holding company 

and related companies.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in 

which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 

expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 

is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference 

between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 

financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 

an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-

out or weighted average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct 

materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on 

estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

STOCK OF PROPERTIES

Stock of properties including completed properties, which are held-for-trading, is stated at the lower of 

cost and net realisable value.

The cost of completed properties for sale is determined by apportionment of the total development costs, 

including borrowing costs capitalised, attributable to unsold units. Net realisable value is estimated by the 

management of the Group based on prevailing market conditions, which represents the estimated selling 

price less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the property.

The amount of any write-down of or provision for completed properties held for sale is recognised as an 

expense in the period when the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down 

or provision arising from an increase in net realisable value is recognised in profit or loss in the period in 

which the reversal occurs.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity 

of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and 

form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise 

cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not 

restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 

that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 

the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in 

finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or 

loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 

to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices 

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in 

a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 

associate, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

INCOME TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 

time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 

associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available 

against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 

the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 

reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit 

will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable 

right exists to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred 

tax liabilities relate to the same taxation entity and the same taxable authority or different taxable entities 

which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 

settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax 

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred 

to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree 

usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of aircraft sub-leasing services, when such services are rendered;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate 

that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial 

instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; 

and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards 

to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including 

directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees 

render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the 

date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a trinomial model, 

further details of which are given in note 34 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 

fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting 

period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the 

statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as 

at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant 

date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions 

are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an 

associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 

reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are 

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 

not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the 

transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, 

provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as 

if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense 

is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is 

otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where 

non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a 

new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date 

that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 

earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the 

“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who 

are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the 

employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in 

accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from 

those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully 

with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates in the PRC, Peru and Ecuador are required to 

participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. The contributions 

are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 

central pension scheme.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 

i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 

are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases 

when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the 

temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted 

from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 

are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with 

the borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general 

meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared. Consequently, interim dividends are 

recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and 

presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 

in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency 

transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional 

currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 

reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair 

value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 

measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated 

in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference 

on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is 

also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong 

dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into 

the presentation currency (Hong Kong dollars) at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 

period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average 

exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 

in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other 

comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit 

or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 

translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong 

Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 

their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

USEFUL LIVES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and consequently related depreciation 

charges. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant 

and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result of technical 

innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. Management will increase 

the deprecation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or 

write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. The carrying 

amount of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2017 is approximately HK$149,400,000 (2016: 

HK$163,499,000). Further details are included in note 14 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS – MINING RIGHTS AND 
EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

The carrying amounts of mining rights and exploration and evaluation assets are reviewed for impairment 

when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. The 

Group considers all facts and circumstances occurred to judge whether these facts and circumstances 

would suggest that the carrying amounts of mining rights and exploration and evaluation assets may 

exceed their recoverable amounts (i.e. impaired). The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value 

less costs of disposal and value in use. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to estimate the 

expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and to choose a suitable discount rate in order 

to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further details are included in note 17 to the financial 

statements.

IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET – SUPPLIER CONTRACT

At the end of the reporting period, management reconsidered the recoverability of the other intangible 

asset – supplier contract in which the carrying amount at 31 December 2017 was approximately 

HK$36,156,000 (2016: HK$55,474,000), after deducting the accumulated amortisation and impairment of 

approximately HK$139,712,000 (2016: HK$107,322,000). Significant estimation is required in determining 

the future cash flows expected to arise from the supplier contract. Details of the shortage of supply, 

rulings and arbitrations are set out in note 41(a) to the financial statements. Adjustment will be made in 

future periods if future market activities indicate that adjustments for impairment are appropriate. Further 

details of the supplier contract are included in note 17 to the financial statements.

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF RECEIVABLES

The Group records impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of loan 

receivable, accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables. Provisions are applied to loan 

receivable, accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables where events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of doubtful debts 

requires the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original 

estimate, such difference will impact the carrying values of loan receivable, accounts receivable and 

deposits and other receivables and impairment charges in the period in which such estimate has been 

changed. Further details of loan receivable, accounts receivable and deposits and other receivables are 

included in notes 22, 23 and 24 to the financial statements, respectively.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
(continued)

ESTIMATION OF FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy 

stated in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The fair value of investment properties at 31 December 

2017 was approximately HK$75,105,000 (2016: HK$63,023,000). The fair value of investment properties, 

set out in note 15 to the financial statements, are determined with reference to a valuation performed by 

an independent professional qualified valuer. Such valuations are made based on certain assumptions, 

which are subject to uncertainties and might materially differ from the actual results. In making the 

judgement, reasonable consideration has been given to the underlying assumptions that are mainly based 

on market condition existing at the end of the reporting period. These estimates are compared to actual 

market data and actual transactions in the market.

INCOME TAXES

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the future tax treatment of certain transactions. 

The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions and tax provisions are set up accordingly. 

The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account all changes in tax 

legislations.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is 

required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 

timing and level of future taxable profits. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised 

tax losses at 31 December 2017 was approximately HK$357,000 (2016: HK$504,000). Further details are 

included in note 32 to the financial statements.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 

services and has six reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the property investment and development segment engages in leasing and sale of properties;

(b) the manufacture and sale of construction materials segment engages in the manufacture and sale 

of slag powder;

(c) the securities investments segment engages in investing in listed securities;

(d) the trading of mineral concentrates segment engages in the trading of mineral concentrates;

(e) the coal mining segment engages in the exploration and development of coal mines concessions 

and sale of coal; and

(f) the others segment engages in the sale of parts of mining equipment and provision of aircraft sub-

leasing services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of 

making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is 

evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before 

tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except 

that bank interest income and other unallocated income and gains, finance costs, gain on disposal 

of available-for-sale investment as well as other unallocated head office and corporate expenses are 

excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from related 

companies and other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a 

group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amount due to the ultimate 

holding company, amounts due to related companies and other unallocated head office and corporate 

liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT RESULTS

An analysis of the Group’s segment results by reportable segment is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2017

Property 

investment

and

development

Securities

investments

Manufacture

and sale of 

construction

materials

Trading

of mineral 

concentrates

Coal

mining Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to/revenue from external customers* 4,289 – – 26,953 – 5,465 36,707

Investment income – (432) – – – – (432)

Total revenue and investment income from 

continuing operations 4,289 (432) – 26,953 – 5,465 36,275

Segment results 2,556 (208) (34,241) (4,695) (3,430) (12,083) (52,101)

Bank interest income and 

other unallocated income and gains 320

Corporate and other unallocated expenses (11,596)

Unallocated finance costs (4,908)

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale 

investment 4,394

Loss before tax from 

continuing operations (63,891)

* Since the amount of intersegment sales is insignificant, no reconciliation has been made.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT RESULTS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2016

Property 

investment

and

development

Securities

investments

Manufacture

and sale of 

construction

materials

Trading

of mineral 

concentrates

Coal

mining Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to/revenue from external customers 27,571 – 25,983 93,354 5,055 1,983 153,946

Investment income – 455 – – – – 455

Total revenue and investment income from 

continuing operations 27,571 455 25,983 93,354 5,055 1,983 154,401

Segment results 9,766 490 (44,568) 6,904 (8,273) (7,411) (43,092)

Bank interest income and 

other unallocated income and gains 894

Corporate and other unallocated expenses (12,367)

Unallocated finance costs (884)

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale 

investment 3,568

Loss before tax from 

continuing operations (51,881)
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s segment assets and liabilities and other segment information by reportable 

segment is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2017

Property 
investment

and 
development

Securities
investments

Manufacture 
and sale of 

construction 
materials

Trading
of mineral

concentrates
Coal

mining Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 94,333 3,721 142,871 37,456 45,697 6,589 330,667

Corporate and other unallocated assets 109,628

Total assets 440,295

Segment liabilities 42,522 40 23,945 16,839 379 1,260 84,985

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 60,662

Total liabilities 145,647

Other segment information related to 
continuing operations:

Depreciation and amortisation charged 
in profit or loss 2,831 – 26,987 136 1,967 4 31,925

Depreciation capitalised in assets – – – – 519 – 519
Corporate and other unallocated amounts 1,166

33,610

Fair value gains on investment properties (5,422) – – – – – (5,422)

Impairment loss on accounts receivable – – 948 – 52 – 1,000

Impairment loss on deposits and  
other receivables – – – 5,175 1,216 – 6,391

Impairment loss on other intangible assets – – 14,782 – – – 14,782

Written off of items of property, 
plant and equipment 958 – – – – – 958

Capital expenditure* 445 – – – 7,952 6 8,403
Corporate and other unallocated amounts 41

8,444

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2016

Property 
investment

and 
development

Securities
investments

Manufacture 
and sale of 

construction 
materials

Trading
of mineral

concentrates
Coal

mining Others Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities:
Segment assets 74,761 10,335 172,931 60,147 39,195 8,337 365,706

Corporate and other unallocated assets 118,024

Total assets 483,730

Segment liabilities 37,514 12 27,421 35,870 1,252 2,499 104,568

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 34,444

Total liabilities 139,012

Other segment information related to 
continuing operations:

Depreciation and amortisation charged 
in profit or loss 715 – 29,908 134 3,751 4 34,512

Depreciation capitalised in assets – – – – 350 – 350
Corporate and other unallocated amounts 1,204

36,066

Fair value gains on investment properties – net (807) – – – – – (807)

Impairment loss on other intangible assets – – 11,686 – – – 11,686

Written off of other intangible assets – – – – 2,768 – 2,768

Capital expenditure* 20,515 – 433 – 1,854 5 22,807
Corporate and other unallocated amounts 77

22,884

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(a) Revenue from external customers

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

PRC 31,242 122,482
Peru 5,465 31,464
Australia (104) 146
Hong Kong (328) 309

36,275 154,401

The revenue information of continuing operations above is based on the location of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

PRC 215,773 234,678
Peru 93,910 88,305
Australia 2,064 5,939
Hong Kong 848 1,850
Ecuador 501 625
Colombia 8 10

313,104 331,407

The non-current assets information of continuing operations above is based on the location of 

assets.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMER

Revenue from customer of corresponding period contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is 

as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A (attributable to trading of 
mineral concentrates segment) 26,953 93,354
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income and gains from continuing operations is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Sale of mineral concentrates 26,953 93,354

Gross rental income 4,289 3,145

Sale of parts of mining equipment 4,219 1,003

Provision of aircraft sub-leasing services 1,246 980

Sale of construction materials – 25,983

Sale of properties – 24,426

Sale of coal – 5,055

Fair value (losses)/gains, net:

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

– held for trading (432) 455

36,275 154,401

Other income and gains

Bank interest income 52 114

Compensation received (note 41(a)) 16,417 –

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment – 13

Interest income on other loans 267 348

Net foreign exchange gains 4,262 2,315

Others 725 700

21,723 3,490
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6. OPERATING LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The Group’s operating loss from continuing operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefits expense
(excluding directors’ remuneration) (i)
Salaries, wages and other benefits in kind 18,332 19,413
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 2,248 3,182

20,580 22,595

Auditors’ remuneration 880 830
Amortisation of other intangible assets

– supplier contract (ii) 8,651 10,538
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 446 491
Amortisation of mining rights

(included in cost of sales and services) – 1,857
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 27,907 145,164
Written off of other intangible assets

– exploration and evaluation assets (ii) – 2,768
Written off of items of property, plant and equipment (ii) 958 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (iii) 23,994 22,830
Impairment loss on accounts receivable (ii) 1,000 –
Impairment loss on deposits and other receivables (ii) 6,391 –
Minimum lease payments under operating leases in 

respect of:
– Land and buildings 431 1,264
– Aircraft (included in cost of sales and services) 106 112

Gross rental income from investment properties (4,289) (3,145)
Less:

Direct operating expenses incurred for investment 
properties that generated rental income during  
the year 102 –

Direct operating expenses incurred for investment 
properties that did not generate rental income 
during the year – –

(4,187) (3,145)
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6. OPERATING LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(i) Amounts excluded expenses capitalised in exploration and evaluation assets and construction in progress of 

approximately HK$3,372,000 (2016: HK$910,000) and Nil (2016: HK$637,000) respectively. Employee benefits 

expense of approximately HK$1,808,000 (2016: HK$5,064,000), HK$18,772,000 (2016: HK$16,788,000) and Nil 

(2016: HK$743,000) were charged to cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and selling and distribution 

expenses respectively.

(ii) Amounts are included in “Other operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(iii) Amounts excluded expenses capitalised in exploration and evaluation assets of approximately HK$519,000 (2016: 

HK$350,000). Depreciation of Nil (2016: approximately HK$18,626,000), approximately HK$6,391,000 (2016: 

HK$4,204,000) and HK$17,603,000 (2016: Nil) were charged to cost of inventories, administrative expenses and 

other operating expenses respectively.

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank and other borrowings wholly repayable  

within five years 3,408 884

Loan arrangement fee for other loan 1,500 –

4,908 884
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 

383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure 

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 720 720

Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,020 1,262

Pension scheme contributions 18 18

2,038 1,280

2,758 2,000

(a) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees

Mr. Lam Man Sum, Albert 180 180

Mr. Cao Kuangyu 180 180

Mr. Cheung Ka Wai 180 180

540 540

Apart from the above, there were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive 

directors during the year (2016: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, A NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE

Salaries,
allowances Pension

and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2017

Executive directors:

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He – 180 9 189

Mr. Zhang Min – 1,300 – 1,300

Mr. Zhou Jianren – 180 9 189

Mr. Xiang Xianhong – 180 – 180

Mr. Lei Shuguang – 180 – 180

– 2,020 18 2,038
Non-executive director:

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose 

Muñiz Ziches 180 – – 180

180 2,020 18 2,218

2016
Executive directors:

Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He – 180 9 189
Mr. Zhang Min – 542 – 542
Mr. Zhou Jianren – 180 9 189
Mr. Xiang Xianhong – 180 – 180
Mr. Lei Shuguang – 180 – 180

– 1,262 18 1,280
Non-executive director:

Mr. Jorge Edgar Jose 
Muñiz Ziches 180 – – 180

180 1,262 18 1,460
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, A NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, Mr. Zhang Min has been appointed as an executive 

director and chief executive of the Company with effect from 10 August 2016. His emoluments 

disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive 

any remuneration during the year (2016: Nil).

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one director (2016: Nil), details of whose 

remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining four 

(2016: five) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor a chief executive of the Company are 

as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,168 4,360

Pension scheme contributions 196 319

5,364 4,679

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell 

within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

2017 2016

Nil – HK$1,000,000 3 2

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1 3

4 5
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10. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) on the estimated 

assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been 

calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current – Hong Kong 162 1,048

Current – Elsewhere

Charge for the year 301 568

Under-provision in prior year 868 –

Deferred tax credit (3,187) (3,858)

Withholding tax charge

– PRC 799 –

– Australia 28 47

Total tax credit for the year (1,029) (2,195)
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10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The tax credit on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 

Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax from continuing operations (63,891) (51,881)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) (10,542) (8,560)

Income not subject to tax (2,248) (1,328)

Expenses not deductible for tax 10,231 5,766

Under-provision in prior year 868 –

Tax losses not recognised 5,951 9,045

Tax losses utlised from prior years (177) (1,024)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in  

other jurisdictions (5,939) (5,690)

Effect of withholding tax on the interest income from  

the Group’s available-for-sale investment 28 47

Effect of withholding tax on the distributable  

profit of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC – (451)

Effect of withholding tax on compensation received  

from arbitration in the PRC 799 –

Tax credit from continuing operations at effective rate (1,029) (2,195)

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 10 December 2015, the Company entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with its 

immediate holding company, PCI, to dispose the entire equity interests in Huaxia Group Limited and its 

subsidiaries and an associate (collectively as the “Disposal Group”), together with the shareholder’s loan 

owing by the Disposal Group to the Company (“Shareholder’s Loan”) at an aggregate consideration of 

HK$218,000,000, subject to adjustment (the “Disposal”). The principal assets of the Disposal Group were 

its 51% equity interests in Wuhan Huaxin Management Limited* and 49% equity interests in Wuhan Plaza 

Management Company Limited* (“WPM”). Details of the Disposal are set out in the Company’s circular 

dated 8 January 2016.

* English name for identification purposes only
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The Company’s independent shareholders passed an ordinary resolution to approve the Disposal 

and the transactions contemplated thereunder by way of poll at the special general meeting held on 

29 January 2016. The Disposal was duly completed on 18 February 2016 and the final consideration 

was approximately HK$219,399,000. The loss on disposal of discontinued operations amounted to 

approximately HK$2,577,000, after disposal expenses of approximately HK$2,701,000. Following the 

completion of the Disposal, the Group ceased to hold any interest in the Disposal Group and Huaxia 

Group Limited and its subsidiaries ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and discontinued the 

operation in provision of property management and agency services business.

The combined results of discontinued operations for the prior period are presented below:

2016

HK$’000

Revenue 2,338

Cost of services (796)

Gross profit 1,542

Other income and gains 1

Administrative expenses (646)

Profit before tax for the period from discontinued operations 897

Income tax expense relating to the ordinary activities  

of discontinued operations (273)

Profit after tax for the period from discontinued operations 624

Loss on disposal* (note 37) (2,577)

Loss for the period from discontinued operations (1,953)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (2,335)

Non-controlling interests 382

(1,953)

* Loss on disposal included release of exchange fluctuation reserve of approximately HK$1,000 reclassified from equity 

and charged to profit or loss upon disposal.
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The net cash flow incurred by the Disposal Group is as follows:

2016

HK$’000

Operating activities 849

Investing activities (5,394)

Net cash outflow (4,545)

Loss per share for the discontinued operations is stated below:

2016

Basic and diluted loss per share from the discontinued operations  

(HK cents per share) (0.23)

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share from the discontinued operations are based on:

2016

HK$’000

Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the Company from  

discontinued operations (2,335)

2016

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  

during the year used in the basic and diluted loss  

per share calculation (note 12) 1,043,675,923

The computation of diluted loss per share from discontinued operations for the year ended 

31 December 2016 did not assume the exercise of the Company’s potential ordinary shares granted 

under the Company’s share option scheme since their exercise would have an anti-dilutive effect.
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12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the loss for the year attributable to 

owners of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,045,399,967 (2016: 

1,043,675,923) in issue during the year.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the Company,  

used in the basic and diluted loss per share calculation  

From continuing operations (44,895) (34,160)

From discontinued operations – (2,335)

(44,895) (36,495)

2017 2016

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 

during the year used in the basic and diluted loss  

per share calculation 1,045,399,967 1,043,675,923

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 did not 

assume the exercise of the Company’s potential ordinary shares granted under the Company’s share 

option scheme since their exercise would have an anti-dilutive effect.
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13. DIVIDENDS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Special dividend paid – Nil (2016: HK18.55 cents per share) – 193,922

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the year ended  

31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold
land* Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Plant and
machinery#

Office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2017

At 31 December 2016
and 1 January 2017
Cost 3,300 110,695 9,741 156,456 4,424 10,784 27,128 322,528
Accumulated depreciation – (28,101) (587) (119,789) (2,804) (7,748) – (159,029)

Net carrying amount 3,300 82,594 9,154 36,667 1,620 3,036 27,128 163,499

At 1 January 2017, net of  
accumulated depreciation 3,300 82,594 9,154 36,667 1,620 3,036 27,128 163,499

Additions – – – 1,580 85 – 406 2,071
Written off – (958) – – – – – (958)
Transferred to investment properties – (352) – – – – – (352)
Depreciation provided for the year – (4,945) (1,160) (16,617) (552) (1,239) – (24,513)
Transfer – 25,596 3,085 – – – (28,681) –
Exchange realignment 137 5,675 377 2,228 42 47 1,147 9,653

At 31 December 2017, net of  
accumulated depreciation 3,437 107,610 11,456 23,858 1,195 1,844 – 149,400

At 31 December 2017
Cost 3,437 141,997 13,225 170,155 4,630 11,034 – 344,478
Accumulated depreciation – (34,387) (1,769) (146,297) (3,435) (9,190) – (195,078)

Net carrying amount 3,437 107,610 11,456 23,858 1,195 1,844 – 149,400
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Freehold Leasehold Plant and Office Motor Construction
land* Buildings improvements machinery# equipment vehicles in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2016

At 31 December 2015 and  
1 January 2016
Cost 3,263 116,621 10,185 165,004 5,338 11,652 8,012 320,075
Accumulated depreciation – (26,789) (1,026) (108,897) (3,199) (7,418) – (147,329)

Net carrying amount 3,263 89,832 9,159 56,107 2,139 4,234 8,012 172,746

At 1 January 2016, net of  
accumulated depreciation 3,263 89,832 9,159 56,107 2,139 4,234 8,012 172,746

Additions – 1,339 – 17 82 433 19,176 21,047
Disposals – – – – (2) – (19) (21)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) – (1,220) (11) – (67) (221) – (1,519)
Depreciation provided for the year – (3,769) (98) (17,406) (546) (1,390) – (23,209)
Transfer – – – 76 – – (76) –
Exchange realignment 37 (3,588) 104 (2,127) 14 (20) 35 (5,545)

At 31 December 2016, net of  
accumulated depreciation 3,300 82,594 9,154 36,667 1,620 3,036 27,128 163,499

At 31 December 2016
Cost 3,300 110,695 9,741 156,456 4,424 10,784 27,128 322,528
Accumulated depreciation – (28,101) (587) (119,789) (2,804) (7,748) – (159,029)

Net carrying amount 3,300 82,594 9,154 36,667 1,620 3,036 27,128 163,499

* Located outside Hong Kong.

# The net carrying amount includes property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$3,453,000 (2016: 

HK$3,827,000) relating to exploration and evaluation activities of the Group as at 31 December 2017.

Notes:

(i) Amongst the depreciation provided for the year ended 31 December 2017 of approximately HK$24,513,000 (2016: 

HK$23,209,000), approximately HK$519,000 (2016: HK$350,000), Nil (2016: HK$18,626,000), approximately 

HK$6,391,000 (2016: HK$4,233,000) and HK$17,603,000 (2016: Nil) were capitalised in exploration and evaluation 

assets, charged to cost of inventories, administrative expenses and other operating expenses respectively.

(ii) At 31 December 2017, the Group had certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately 

HK$46,973,000 (2016: HK$58,329,000) pledged to secure banking and general facilities granted to the Group, 

details of which are included in note 31 to the financial statements.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 63,023 63,856

Net gain from fair value adjustment 5,422 807

Transferred from property, plant and equipment (Note) 322 –

Transferred from prepaid land lease payments (Note) 4,064 –

Exchange realignment 2,274 (1,640)

Carrying amount at 31 December 75,105 63,023

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2017, property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments with carrying 

amounts of approximately HK$352,000 and HK$1,290,000 (before adjustments of gain on revaluation upon reclassification) 

respectively, details of which are included in notes 14 and 16 to the financial statements, were transferred to investment 

properties as the management had changed the use of the property. The property was revalued by RHL Appraisal Limited 

(“RHL”), an independent professional qualified valuer at the date of transfer on an open market value basis by direct 

comparison method with the major input as the price per unit on floor area. The resulting increase in fair value and related 

deferred tax charge of approximately HK$2,744,000 and HK$1,612,000 respectively have been recognised in the property 

revaluation reserve within equity.

The carrying amount of investment properties shown above comprises:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Held under medium-term lease in the PRC 75,105 63,023

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2017 with reference to a valuation 

performed by RHL, on an open market value basis by direct comparison method with the major input as 

the price per unit on floor area. Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under operating 

leases, further summary details of which are included in note 40(a) to the financial statements.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s investment properties with carrying amount of 

approximately HK$39,199,000 (2016: HK$30,799,000) were pledged to secure general facilities granted 

to the Group, details of which are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on page 157 of this annual report.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Commercial properties – 75,105 – 75,105

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Commercial properties – 63,023 – 63,203

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2016: Nil).
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

At 31 December 2017 and 2016

Fair value 

hierarchy Valuation techniques

Commercial properties in 

Beijing, PRC

Level 2 Direct comparison method based on the principle  

substitution. Comparison is made on prices  

realised on actual sales and/or asking prices of  

comparable properties

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, all of the Group’s investment properties in the PRC are for 

commercial purpose either for capital appreciation or for earning rentals.

16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 19,676 21,667

Recognised during the year (446) (496)

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) – (382)

Transferred to investment properties (1,290) –

Exchange realignment 1,459 (1,113)

Carrying amount at 31 December 19,399 19,676

At 31 December 2016, the Group had certain prepaid land lease payments with carrying amount of 

approximately HK$1,290,000 pledged to secure general facilities granted to the Group, details of which 

are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

The leasehold land is held under medium term leases and is situated in the PRC.
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Exploration
Supplier and evaluation Mining
contract assets rights Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note (i)) (Note (ii)) (Note (iii))

31 December 2017

Cost at 1 January 2017, net of accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 55,474 17,450 5,842 78,766

Additions – 5,357 1,016 6,373
Impairment loss recognised (14,782) – – (14,782) 
Amortisation provided during the year (8,651) – – (8,651)
Exchange realignment 4,115 717 241 5,073

At 31 December 2017 36,156 23,524 7,099 66,779

At 31 December 2017
Cost 175,868 23,524 11,407 210,799
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (139,712) – (4,308) (144,020)

Net carrying amount 36,156 23,524 7,099 66,779

31 December 2016

Cost at 1 January 2016, net of accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 81,900 18,299 7,478 107,677

Additions – 1,707 130 1,837
Written off or disposal – (2,768) – (2,768)
Impairment loss recognised (11,686) – – (11,686)
Amortisation provided during the year (10,538) – (1,857) (12,395)
Exchange realignment (4,202) 212 91 (3,899)

At 31 December 2016 55,474 17,450 5,842 78,766

At 31 December 2016
Cost 162,796 17,450 9,980 190,226
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (107,322) – (4,138) (111,460)

Net carrying amount 55,474 17,450 5,842 78,766
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(i) The supplier contract represents the materials supply agreement embedded in the joint venture agreement dated 

30 June 2006 regarding the establishment of Hunan Taiji entered into between the joint venturers, namely Junefield 

Building Material, an indirectly held subsidiary of the Company, and 漣源鋼鐵集團有限公司 (Lianyuan Steel Group 

Limited*) (“Lianyuan Steel”), upon the acquisition of Junefield Building Material and its subsidiary, Hunan Taiji, by the 

Group on 22 May 2009. 華菱漣源鋼鐵有限公司 (Hualing Steel Company Limited*) (“Hualing Steel”), a company 

established in the PRC, is a steel products manufacturer and is effectively owned as to more than 30% by the holding 

company of Lianyuan Steel. Pursuant to the joint venture agreement mentioned above, Lianyuan Steel is responsible 

to guarantee the supply of raw materials required by Hunan Taiji and to procure Hualing Steel to supply granulated 

steel slag to Hunan Taiji at prescribed unit price for a period of 15 years from the date of commencement of operation 

of Hunan Taiji.

The intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of approximately 14 years in 

accordance with the terms of joint venture agreement. The supplier contract has a remaining amortisation period of 

approximately 6 years.

Due to the shortage of supply from the supplier, the management of the Group reassessed projected cash flows 

relating to the value in use and conduct an impairment review on the supplier contract. The recoverable amount of 

the supplier contract’s cash-generating unit (“CGU”) has been determined based on value in use calculation. That 

calculation uses cash flow projections based on most recent financial budgets after taking into account the operation 

environment and market conditions at that point of time approved by the management covering a five-year period 

with pre-tax discount rate of 27.84% (2016: 29.59%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using 

zero growth rate. The key assumptions for the value in use calculation are those regarding the discount rate, growth 

in unit price and purchase volume during the forecast period. The discount rate reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recognised impairment loss of approximately HK$14,782,000 

(2016: HK$11,686,000) in relation to the supplier contract. The Group has filed applications for arbitration 

proceedings regarding on the shortage of supply against the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji for, inter alia, failing to 

procure the requested amount of steel slag supply, further details of which are included in note 41(a) to the financial 

statements.

(ii) The exploration and evaluation assets mainly represent the cost of acquisition of the exploration licences 

related to various coal and mineral mines in Peru, which are under the exploration and evaluation stage as at 

31 December 2017, with a carrying value of approximately HK$23,524,000 (2016: HK$17,450,000). These assets are 

not subject to amortisation until they are placed in use.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, having carried out feasible study on exploration projects in Peru, the 

directors of the Company determined certain exploration projects cannot be explored continuously in view of 

their unfavourable future prospects and exploration and evaluation assets with an aggregate carrying amount of 

approximately HK$2,768,000 were written off.

* English name for identification purposes only
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) The mining rights represent the rights to conduct mining activities pertains to coal mines in Peru. The production 

of coal mines has been temporarily suspended and no amortisation was recognised during the year ended 

31 December 2017. The mining rights are amortised on a unit of production basis over the estimated economic 

reserve of the mine. Effective amortisation rate for the year ended 31 December 2016 approximate to 19%. In the 

opinion of the directors of the Company, after obtaining opinion from its legal counsel, there are no legal impediments 

for the Group to renew its permits. 

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the directors of the Company performed an impairment assessment 

of the mining rights. The mining rights have been allocated to the coal mining activities’ CGU for impairment 

assessment. Based on the assessment, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the estimated recoverable 

amount of the mining rights was higher than its carrying amount and therefore, no impairment loss was recognised on 

the mining rights for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investment in the PRC – WPM – –

During the period from 1 January 2016 to the date of the Disposal, no share of result of WPM was 

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and was accounted for using the equity 

method. The PRC business licence of WPM expired on 29 December 2013. The Group disposed the 

associate on 18 February 2016. Details of the disposal are set out in notes 11 and 37 to the financial 

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

2017 2016

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investment, at cost (i) – –

Listed equity investment, at fair value (ii)

– Elsewhere 2,064 5,939

2,064 5,939

Notes:

(i) The investment represented unlisted equity securities in Wuhan Huaxin Real Estate Company Limited*. The Group 

disposed this available-for-sale investment on 18 February 2016. Details of the disposal are set out in notes 11 and 

37 to the financial statements.

(ii) As at 31 December 2017, the Group held approximately 30,699,000 (2016: 88,396,000) fully paid ordinary shares 

of Latin Resources Limited (“LRS”), a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (“ASX Limited”), 

representing approximately 1% (2016: 6%) of its issued share capital. During the year ended 31 December 2017, 

the gross gain in fair value of the available-for-sale investment in respect of the shares held in LRS of approximately 

HK$2,275,000 (2016: HK$7,007,000) was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

and approximately HK$4,519,000 (2016: HK$3,568,000) was reclassified from other comprehensive income to the 

statement of profit or loss upon disposal of shares in LRS for the year.

* English name for identification purposes only



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

121JUNEFIELD DEPARTMENT STORE GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

20. STOCK OF PROPERTIES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Completed properties for sale 5,768 5,539

Further particulars of the Group’s completed properties for sale are included on page 157 of this annual 

report.

21. INVENTORIES

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials and consumables 2,425 2,352

Finished goods 10,404 8,721

12,829 11,073

22. LOAN RECEIVABLE

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current

Loan receivable from LRS – unsecured, repayable within one year 397 2,800

The above unsecured loan to LRS is denominated in Australian dollars (“AUD”) with maturity in February 

2017 and bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum. The balance has been fully settled subsequently in 

January 2018.
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable 2,105 9,890

Impairment (1,000) –

1,105 9,890

Accounts receivable are usually due immediately from the date of billing. Payment in advance is normally 

required except the credit period is generally 1 month extending up to 2 months for certain customers 

from coal mining business of the Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 

receivables and overdue balances which are reviewed regularly by senior management to minimise credit 

risk. Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing and mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), USD 

and Soles.

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts receivable as at the end of the reporting period, based on 

invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 647 825

1 to 3 months 355 2,306

Over 3 months 103 6,759

1,105 9,890
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of accounts receivable are as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January – 56

Impairment loss recognised 1,000 –

Disposal of subsidiaries – (57)

Exchange realignment – 1

At 31 December 1,000 –

The above provision for impairment of accounts receivable represents provision for individually impaired 

accounts receivable of approximately HK$1,000,000 (2016: Nil). The individually impaired accounts 

receivable as at 31 December 2017 mainly relate to customers that were past due over 1 year. The 

management assessed that collection of these receivables is in doubt. The Group did not hold any 

collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

The aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired – –

Less than 1 month past due 647 825

1 to 3 months past due 355 2,306

Over 3 months past due 103 6,759

1,105 9,890

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to certain independent customers that have a 

good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the 

opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a 

significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does 

not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 6,049 6,327
Deposits 32,278 47,511
Other receivables 26,697 21,033
Other loan receivable 3,606 3,338

68,630 78,209
Impairment (10,157) (3,499)

58,473 74,710

The movements in provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 161 883
Impairment loss recognised 6,391 –
Disposal of subsidiaries – (723)
Exchange realignment (1) 1

At 31 December 6,551 161

The above provision for impairment of deposits and other receivables represents provision for individually 

impaired deposits and other receivables of approximately HK$6,391,000 (2016: Nil). The individually 

impaired deposits and other receivables as at 31 December 2017 mainly relate to deposits paid to 

vendors and service providers that were past due over 1 year. The management assessed that the 

impaired deposits are not expected to be recovered nor utilised as purchases. The Group did not hold 

any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

125JUNEFIELD DEPARTMENT STORE GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of other loan receivable are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 3,338 3,540
Exchange realignment 268 (202)

At 31 December 3,606 3,338

An impairment loss was made on the above other loan receivable based on a review of outstanding 
amounts on regular basis when collection of the amount is in doubt. Bad debts are written off when 
identified. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over this balance. The 
other loan receivable as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was denominated in RMB, bore interest at 1% 
per month, was secured by personal guarantee and was repayable in December 2013. The other loan 
receivable as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were fully impaired as the loan was past due in December 
2013 and the collection of the amount was in doubt.

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

Highest balance
outstanding

during the year 2017 2016
Name of company Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Junefield Group S.A. (i) 11 11 11
Ecuamining Mineral S.A. (i) 2 – 2
Total Genius Iron Mining S.A.C. (i) 183 183 182
Hualing Steel (ii) 13,002 13,002 12,591

13,196 12,786

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Zhou Chu Jian He (“Mr. Zhou”), the chairman and an executive director of the Company, has beneficial interests 
in Junefield Group S.A., Ecuamining Mineral S.A. (“Ecuamining Mineral”) and Total Genius Iron Mining S.A.C. (“Total 
Genius”).

(ii) Lianyuan Steel, being the holding company of the non-controlling interest of Hunan Taiji, has beneficial interests in 
Hualing Steel.
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26. AMOUNTS DUE TO THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY/
RELATED COMPANIES

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 
OR LOSS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity investments, at market value:
Hong Kong 1,047 1,374
Elsewhere – 105

1,047 1,479

The above listed equity investments at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were classified as held for trading 

and recognised as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and bank balances 34,290 33,960

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB 

amounted to approximately HK$4,269,000 (2016: HK$10,093,000) and placed with banks in the PRC. 

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign 

Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange 

Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to 

conduct foreign exchange business.

As at 31 December 2017, included in the cash and bank balances, there was a balance of approximately 

Soles 37,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$89,000) (2016: Soles 256,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$587,000)) placed in bank in Peru which is restricted for use as guarantee fund over renewal of Air 

Operator Certificate in Peru (2016: for use as guarantee fund over the advances on sale contracts to 

finance the customer by the bank on the sale of properties).
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28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are 

made for varying periods of between one day and twelve months depending on the immediate cash 

requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank 

balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable as at the end of the reporting period, based on invoice 

date, is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 month 1,086 328
1 to 3 months 85 4,759
Over 3 months 3,998 10,579

5,169 15,666

Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are mainly denominated in RMB, USD and Soles.

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accruals 15,028 15,389
Business tax payable 2,282 1,877
Deposits received 8,804 17,453
Other payables 21,498 21,146

47,612 55,865

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are mainly denominated in RMB and Soles.
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Current
Bank loan－secured (i) 3,718 1,233
Other loan－unsecured (iii) 6,010 5,563
 

9,728 6,796
 
Non-current
Bank loan－secured (i) 6,196 9,858
Other loan－secured (ii) 25,000 –
 

31,196 9,858
 
Total 40,924 16,654

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed into:
Bank and other borrowings repayable:

– Within one year or on demand 9,728 6,796
– In the second year 28,718 3,697
– In the third to fifth years, inclusive 2,478 6,161

40,924 16,654

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a bank loan of approximately USD1,276,000 or equivalent to approximately 

HK$9,914,000 (2016: USD1,436,000 or equivalent to approximately HK$11,091,000) from a local bank in Peru for 

financing its mining projects in Peru. The loan is denominated in USD, interest-bearing at annual rate of London 

Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 6.4% per annum (2016: LIBOR plus 5.9% per annum) and will be expired in 

August 2020.

 The bank loan is secured by certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment situated in Peru with aggregate 

carrying value of approximately HK$46,973,000 (2016: HK$57,978,000) as at 31 December 2017.
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31. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) The Group entered into an agreement with a money lender in Hong Kong for one year term loan with principal of 

HK$25,000,000 for facilitating the general working capital needs of the Group. The Group withdrew the loan in full 

on 4 January 2017. The secured other loan is denominated in HK$, interest-bearing at 8% per annum and will be 

repayable in January 2018.

 In December 2017, the Group entered into a supplementary agreement with the money lender. The repayment date 

has been further extended to 3 January 2019.

 The loan is secured by certain of the Group’s investment properties with carrying value of approximately 

HK$39,199,000 as at 31 December 2017 (2016: investment properties, property, plant and equipment and prepaid 

land lease payments with aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$32,440,000) and corporate guarantee given 

by the Company.

(iii) The unsecured other loan is denominated in RMB, bears interest at a rate of 9.5% per annum and repayable on 

demand.

32. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Losses available
for offsetting

against future
taxable profits

HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 1,882

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss (1,404)

Exchange differences 26

As at 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 504
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss (168)
Exchange differences 21

At 31 December 2017 357
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32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Intangible Revaluation Withholding
asset of properties tax Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 20,475 27,588 18,885 66,948
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) – – (18,434) (18,434)
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to 

profit or loss (5,691) 880 (451) (5,262)
Exchange differences (916) (463) – (1,379)

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017 13,868 28,005 – 41,873

Deferred tax (credited)/charged to 
profit or loss (5,721) 2,366 – (3,355)

Deferred tax charged to 
other comprehensive income – 1,612 – 1,612

Exchange differences 891 646 – 1,537

At 31 December 2017 9,038 32,629 – 41,667

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$1,062,000 (2016: HK$1,062,000) 

and that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which 

the losses arose. The Group has tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately HK$57,900,000 (2016: 

HK$29,279,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. The Group 

has tax losses arising in Ecuador of approximately HK$1,360,000 (2016: HK$1,162,000) that may be 

carried forward for five years, but may only be offset against 25% of the profits earned in each tax year. 

The Group also has tax losses arising in Peru of approximately HK$52,796,000 (2016: HK$41,003,000) 

which the Group has the option to carry forward all net operating losses for four years or carry the losses 

forward indefinitely, but only up to 50% of the taxpayer’s taxable income of each subsequent year. 

Loss carryback is not permitted. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of approximately 

HK$1,275,000 (2016: HK$1,797,000) of such tax losses at 31 December 2017. Deferred tax assets have 

not been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have 

been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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32. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared 

to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is 

effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax 

rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. 

For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on 

dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated since 

1 January 2008. There was no unremitted earnings for the PRC subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 

and 2016.

33. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Share capital

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 25,000,000,000 25,000,000,000 2,500,000 2,500,000

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 1,045,399,967 1,024,399,967 104,540 102,440
Share options exercised – 21,000,000 – 2,100

At 31 December 1,045,399,967 1,045,399,967 104,540 104,540

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the subscription rights attaching to 21,000,000 share options 

were exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.229 per share (note 34), resulting in the issue of 

21,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately 

HK$4,809,000. An amount of approximately HK$2,645,000 was transferred from the share option reserve 

to the share premium account upon the exercise of the share options. No share options were exercised 

during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are 

included in note 34 to the financial statements.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders 

of the Company on 29 June 2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme became 

effective on 29 June 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years 

from that date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain and motivate talented 

participants to strive for future development and expansion of the Group. The Share Option Scheme 

shall be an incentive to encourage the participants to perform their best in achieving the goals of the 

Group and allow the participants to enjoy the results of the Company attained through their efforts and 

contributions.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include (i) any full-time employees and directors 

(including executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of the 

Group; (ii) any advisor or consultant to the Group, providers of goods and/or services to the Group, 

and any other person who, at the sole determination of the board of directors of the Company, has 

contributed to the Group; and (iii) the trustee of any trust whose beneficiaries or objects include any 

aforesaid employee or business associate.

The maximum number of share options permitted to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is an 

amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date of 

approval of the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to 

each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the 

shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is 

subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to 

any of their associates, are subject to approval by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, 

any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the 

Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any 

time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of 

grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in a 

general meeting.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon 

payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share 

options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period and ends on a 

date which is not later than ten years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but shall not be less than the higher 

of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets 

on the date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated 

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of 

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the years ended  

31 December 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016
Weighted

average
exercise price

per share
Number of

options

Weighted
average

exercise price
per share

Number of
options

HK$ ’000 HK$ ’000

At 1 January 0.229 13,280 0.229 34,280
Exercised during the year N/A – 0.229 (21,000)

At 31 December 0.229 13,280 0.229 13,280

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year 

ended 31 December 2016 was HK$0.396 per share. No share option under the Share Option Scheme 

was granted, expired, lapsed or cancelled during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows:

Year Date of grant

Number of

options

Exercise price*

per share 

Exercise

period

HK$

2017 6 July 2009 13,280,000 0.229 6 July 2009 to 5 July 2019

2016 6 July 2009 13,280,000 0.229 6 July 2009 to 5 July 2019

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar 

changes in the Company’s share capital.

The 21,000,000 share options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2016 resulted in the issue 

of 21,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital of approximately HK$2,100,000 

and share premium of approximately HK$5,354,000.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 13,280,000 share options outstanding under 

the Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the 

present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 13,280,000 additional ordinary shares 

of the Company and additional share capital of HK$1,328,000 and share premium of approximately 

HK$3,386,000 (before issue expenses).

All share options have been accounted for under HKFRS 2. The share options outstanding at the end of 

the reporting period had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.5 years (2016: 2.5 years).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 13,280,000 share options 

outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately 1.27% of the Company’s 

shares in issue as at that date.
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35. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 57 of this annual report.

The Group’s capital reserve represents negative goodwill arisen on acquisitions prior to 1 January 2001.

According to the Articles of Association of the PRC subsidiary of the Company which require the 

appropriation of 10% of its profit after tax to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance of the reserve 

reaches 50% of its registered capital. The transfer of the reserve must be made before distributions of 

dividends to owners of the Group. Statutory surplus reserve can be used for making up losses and may 

be converted into capital in proportion to existing owners’ equity percentage, provided that the balance 

after such issuance is not less than 25% of its registered capital.

36. A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group that have material non-

controlling interests:

Name of subsidiary

Place of establishment

and principal

place of business

Proportion of ownership 

interests held by the non-

controlling interests

Loss allocated to

non-controlling interests

Accumulated

non-controlling interests

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hunan Taiji PRC 40% 40% (17,967) (15,526) 52,812 65,880
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36. A PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling 

interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts before 

intragroup eliminations.

Hunan Taiji

At 31 December

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 18,628 25,495

Non-current assets 140,110 169,337

Current liabilities (15,653) (14,246)

Non-current liabilities (9,038) (13,868)

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue – 25,983

Other income and gains 243 63

Expense (45,161) (64,861)

Loss for the year (44,918) (38,815)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 12,246 (11,149)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (32,672) (49,964)

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests – –

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (7,036) 174

Net cash outflow from investing activities – (374)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7,036) (200)
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

As detailed in note 11 to the financial statements, the Group disposed of the Disposal Group to a 

connected person during the year ended 31 December 2016.

At date of

disposal

Note HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Property, plant and equipment 14 1,519

Prepaid land lease payments 16 382

Investment in an associate 225,832

Accounts receivable 483

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 10,321

Amount due from a related company 1,231

Time deposits 8,204

Cash and bank balances 11,987

Other payables and accruals (20,548)

Amounts due to related companies (3,060)

Amount due to a joint venturer (84)

Amount due to an associate (117)

Amount due to the Group (25,583)

Tax payable (1,205)

Deferred tax liabilities 32 (18,434)

190,928

Shareholder’s Loan from the Disposal Group 25,583

Non-controlling interest 2,763

Exchange fluctuation reserve 1

Disposal related expenses 2,701

Loss on disposal 11 (2,577)

219,399

Satisfied by cash 219,399
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the Disposal is as follows:

2016

HK$’000

Cash consideration 219,399

Disposal related expenses (2,701)

Cash and bank balances disposed of (11,987)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries 204,711

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 

cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows 

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash 

flows from financing activities.

Interest-
bearing 

bank 
borrowings

Interest-
bearing 

other 
borrowings

Amount 
due to the 

ultimate 
holding 

company Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2017 11,091 5,563 26 16,680
New other loan – 25,000 – 25,000
Repayment of bank loan (1,241) – – (1,241)
Advance from the ultimate  

holding company – – 3 3
Exchange alignment 64 447 – 511

At 31 December 2017 9,914 31,010 29 40,953
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39. CHARGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings, which are secured and pledged by certain assets of 

the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 16 and 31 respectively, to the financial statements.

40. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS AND COMMITMENT

(a) AS LESSOR

The Group leases certain of its investment properties under operating lease arrangements, which 

leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years (2016: one to three years).

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-

cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,361 2,911

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 1,602 1,261

4,963 4,172

(b) AS LESSEE

The Group leases its office properties under operating lease arrangements. Lease for property is 

negotiated for terms of one to three years (2016: one to three years).

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases falling due as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 279 279

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 30 –

309 279

(c) At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group did not have any significant capital commitments.
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41. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS

(a) Junefield Building Material filed two applications for arbitration proceedings at the China 

International Economics and Trade Arbitration Commission (“Arbitration Commission”) against 

the minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji, Lianyuan Steel in October 2013 and December 2015 

respectively for compensations on, inter alia, failing to procure the requested amount of supply 

of the granulated steel slag for production (“Steel Slag Supply”) for the periods from 1 January 

2011 to 31 August 2013 and from 1 September 2013 to 30 September 2015 under Hunan Taiji’s 

joint venture agreement (the “First Taiji Arbitration Application” and the “Second Taiji Arbitration 

Application” respectively).

In January 2015, the Arbitration Commission ruled on the First Taiji Arbitration Application that 

minority shareholder of Hunan Taiji should pay Junefield Building Material a compensation of 

approximately RMB13,850,000 and it should continue to honour its obligations by procuring 

the Steel Slag Supply in accordance with the joint venture agreement of Hunan Taiji until 2021. 

Junefield Building Material ultimately received the compensation from Lianyuan Steel on 2 August 

2017.

In May 2017, Junefield Building Material further filed an application to extend the claiming period 

ended from 30 September 2015 to 31 August 2016 with a revised claim amount of approximately 

RMB71,485,000 in respect of the Second Taiji Arbitration Application and it was successfully 

accepted by the Arbitration Commission. Up to the date of this report, the ruling has not been 

given yet.

Based on the legal opinion of the Group’s PRC legal advisors, the directors of the Company are of 

the opinion that the ruling on the Second Taiji Arbitration Application is cautiously optimistic.
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41. OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b) In 2014, the Company’s former indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, International Management 

Company Limited (“IMC”), considered that the joint venturer of its 49%-owned associated 

company had jeopardised the legitimate interests of IMC itself and its associated company 

and, therefore, claimed damages against the joint venturer in the total sum of approximately 

RMB975,325,000 at the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province, the PRC（中國湖北省高級人民

法院）(the “Higher Court”).

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement of the disposal of Huaxia Group Limited (former 

subsidiary of the Company) entered in December 2015, the purchaser has undertaken to the 

Company that in the event that the judgement in respect of the above litigation is awarded by the 

Higher Court in favour of IMC within 18 months after 18 February 2016, the purchaser should 

reimburse the amount awarded by the Higher Court after deducting related expenses. During 

the year under review, there is no ruling awarded from the Higher Court and hence, the aforesaid 

undertaking expired  from 19 August 2017 onwards.
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed in notes 8, 11, 19, 37 and 41 in the financial statements, the 

Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

(a) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Commission charged by Ecuamining Mineral (i) 437 1,252
Purchases from Hualing Steel (ii) – 823
Logistics services fee charged by 

Lianyuan Logistics Co., Ltd. (iii) – 3,078
Rental expenses paid to the 

ultimate holding company (iv) 187 898
Management fees paid to the 

ultimate holding company (iv) 856 –
Sub-leasing fee paid to related companies (v) 106 112
Sub-leasing service fee income 

received from a related company (vi) 218 –
Market research fee charged 

by a related company (vii) – 419

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Property management fee charged to 

Wuhan Department Store Group Co., Ltd.* (the 
“PRC Partner”) (viii) – 463

Notes:

(i) Like Top, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the sourcing agent agreement 

with Ecuamining Mineral, pursuant to which Like Top agreed to appoint and Ecuamining Mineral agreed to act 

as sourcing agent of Like Top to procure the supply of mineral concentrates or its related products in Ecuador 

for a term of two years. Ecuamining Mineral is a company incorporated in Ecuador and is ultimately wholly-

owned by Mr. Zhou.

* English name for identification purposes only
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii) Pursuant to the joint venture agreement of Hunan Taiji dated 30 June 2006, Lianyuan Steel is liable to procure 

Hualing Steel to enter into agreement with Hunan Taiji to supply granulated steel slag to Hunan Taiji at a 

unit price of RMB4 per ton (Value Added Tax inclusive). The unit material price was determined at the time 

of entering into the joint venture agreement to establish Hunan Taiji. Hualing Steel served a written notice to 

Hunan Taiji to suspend the supply of the granulated steel slag in March 2016 which resulted in suspension of 

production in Hunan Taiji since August 2016.

(iii) The logistics services fee in relation to the transportation of granulated steel slag, which was determined on 

an annual basis between Hunan Taiji and Lianyuan Logistics Co., Ltd* (湖南漣鋼物流有限公司, “Lianyuan 

Logistics”) with reference to the prevailing market price of similar transportation services. Lianyuan Steel 

has beneficial interests in Lianyuan Logistics. No logistics services fee was paid during the year ended 

31 December 2017.

(iv) The monthly rental expenses and management fees were mutually agreed between the contracting parties.

(v) Lima Airlines, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sub-leasing of aircraft 

agreement with Total Genius and Mega Choice Investment Limited (“Mega Choice”). Total Genius is a 

company incorporated in Peru and Mega Choice is a company incorporated in Hong Kong. Both companies 

are ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou.

(vi) Lima Airlines received sub-leasing service fee income of aircraft from Junefield Group S.A. during the year 

ended 31 December 2017. Junefield Group S.A. is a company incorporated in Peru and is ultimately wholly-

owned by Mr. Zhou.

(vii) The Group engaged 湖南湘中礦業集團有限公司 (Hunan XiangZhong Mining (Group) Limited*) to carry out 

a market research on the property market in the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2016. Hunan 

XiangZhong Mining (Group) Limited is a company incorporated in the PRC and is ultimately wholly-owned by 

Mr. Zhou.

(viii) The property management services fees were charged to the PRC Partner, a company which had 51% equity 

interest in WPM.

The related party transactions in respect of item (i) during the year ended 31 December 2017 

and items (i), (ii) and (iii) during the year ended 31 December 2016 above constitute continuing 

connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

* English name for identification purposes only
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short term employee benefits 2,740 1,982
Post-employment benefits 18 18

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 2,758 2,000

The above related party transactions do not constitute connected transactions or continuing 

connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets

at fair value

through profit

or loss－held

for trading

Loans and

receivables

Available–

for-sale

financial

assets Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2017

Available-for-sale investment – – 2,064 2,064

Loan receivable – 397 – 397

Accounts receivable – 1,105 – 1,105

Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables – 26,536 – 26,536

Amounts due from related companies – 13,196 – 13,196

Financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss

– Listed equity investment (Hong Kong) 1,047 – – 1,047

Cash and bank balances – 34,290 – 34,290

1,047 75,524 2,064 78,635
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets

at fair value

through profit

or loss－held

for trading

Loans and

receivables

Available–

for-sale

financial

assets Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016

Available-for-sale investment – – 5,939 5,939

Loan receivable – 2,800 – 2,800

Accounts receivable – 9,890 – 9,890

Financial assets included in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables – 20,872 – 20,872

Amounts due from related companies – 12,786 – 12,786

Financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss

– Listed equity investment (Hong Kong) 1,374 – – 1,374

– Listed equity investment (Elsewhere) 105 – – 105

Cash and bank balances – 33,960 – 33,960

1,479 80,308 5,939 87,726

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts payable 5,169 15,666

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 36,526 36,535

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 40,924 16,654

Amount due to the ultimate holding company 29 26

Amounts due to related companies 3,818 2,266

86,466 71,147
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, loan receivable, accounts 

receivable, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from 

related companies, accounts payable, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, amount 

due to the ultimate holding company and amounts due to related companies approximate to their carrying 

amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument 

could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation 

sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity investment are based on quoted market prices. The directors of the 

Company believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which are 

recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair values, 

which are recorded in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 

financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investment respectively, are 

reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.
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44. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments.

Assets measured at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2017:

Available-for-sale investment

– Listed equity investment 2,064 – – 2,064

Financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss

– Listed equity investment 

(Hong Kong) 1,047 – – 1,047

3,111 – – 3,111

As at 31 December 2016:

Available-for-sale investment

– Listed equity investment 5,939 – – 5,939

Financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss

– Listed equity investment 

(Hong Kong) 1,374 – – 1,374

– Listed equity investment  

(Elsewhere) 105 – – 105

7,418 – – 7,418

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2016: Nil).
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate 

risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 

management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 

adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) INTEREST RATE RISK

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates 

primarily to bank borrowings with floating interest rates, further details of these borrowings are set 

out in note 31 to the financial statements. The Group currently does not hedge its exposure to 

interest rate risks. However, the management monitors the interest rate risk exposure closely and 

will consider hedging significant interest rate risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for 

interest-bearing bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period. A 100 basis points increase 

and decrease are used and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 

change in interest rates.

If the interest rate on interest-bearing bank borrowings had been 100 basis points higher 

and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss before tax for the year ended 

31 December 2017 would increase by approximately HK$110,000 (2016: HK$36,000) as a result 

of the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings. If the interest rates 

on interest-bearing bank borrowings had been 100 basis points lower and all other variables were 

held constant, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss before tax.

In the opinion of directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of inherent 

interest rate risk as the year ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

(b) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases 

by operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group’s major 

operations and businesses are located in the PRC and Peru and substantially all transactions 

are mainly conducted in RMB, Soles and USD respectively. All the assets and liabilities of these 

businesses are denominated in RMB, Soles and USD. At the end of the reporting period, certain 

assets of the Group are denominated in AUD.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management 

monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency 

exposure should the need arise.

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, relevant foreign currency risk is minimal, and substantially all of the 

revenue and cost of sales in Peru are denominated in Soles which is the functional currency of 

the operating units. Accordingly, their fluctuation are excluded from the sensitivity analysis. The 

following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably 

possible change in the RMB and AUD exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the 

Group’s loss before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the 

Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease)

in rate

Decrease/
(increase) in

loss before tax

Increase/
(decrease)

in equity*
% HK$’000 HK$’000

2017

If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 291 –

If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (291) –

If HK$ weakens against AUD 5 31 103

If HK$ strengthens against AUD (5) (31) (103)
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

(b) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (continued)

Increase/
(decrease)

in rate

Decrease/
(increase) in

loss before tax

Increase/
(decrease)

in equity*
% HK$’000 HK$’000

2016
If HK$ weakens against RMB 5 277 –
If HK$ strengthens against RMB (5) (277) –
If HK$ weakens against AUD 5 171 297
If HK$ strengthens against AUD (5) (171) (297)

* Excluding retained profits

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent exchange risk 

as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(c) EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes 

in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity 

price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as trading equity investments and 

available-for-sale investment as at the end of the reporting period. The Group’s listed investments 

are listed on the Stock Exchange and the ASX Limited and are valued at quoted market prices at 

the end of the reporting period.

The market equity indices for the Stock Exchange and the ASX Limited, at the close of business of 

the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and their respective highest 

and lowest points during the year were as follows:

31 December High/low 31 December High/low
2017 2017 2016 2016

Stock Exchange
– Hang Seng Index 29,919 30,003/ 22,001 24,100/

22,134 18,320

ASX Limited
– S&P/ASX 200 Index 6,065 6,088/ 5,666 5,699/

5,611 4,765
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

(c) EQUITY PRICE RISK (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change in the fair values of the equity 

investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their 

carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Decrease/

(increase) Increase/

Carrying in loss (decrease)

amounts before tax in equity*

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2017

Investments listed in:

Hong Kong — Held-for-trading 1,047 52/(52) –

Elsewhere — Available-for-sale 2,064 – 103/(103)

Decrease/

(increase) Increase/

Carrying in loss (decrease)

amounts before tax in equity*

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016

Investments listed in:

Hong Kong — Held-for-trading 1,374 69/(69) –

Elsewhere — Held-for-trading 105 5/(5) –

— Available-for-sale 5,939 – 297/(297)

* Excluding retained profits
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

(d) CREDIT RISK

The Group reviews the recoverability of its financial assets periodically to ensure that potential 

credit risk of the counterparty is managed at an early stage and sufficient provision is made 

for possible defaults. In addition, the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of 

each individual accounts receivable to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for 

irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, 

other receivables, loan receivables and amounts due from related companies arises from default of 

the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement 

for collateral. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk 

as 49% (2016: 89%) and 86% (2016: 98%) of the Group’s accounts receivable were due from the 

Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers, respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from loan 

receivable and accounts receivable are disclosed in notes 22 and 23 respectively to the financial 

statements.

(e) LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains 

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short, medium and longer term. 

Banking facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes. Certain individual operating 

entities within the Group are responsible for their own cash management.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 

equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate 

the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

(e) LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based 

on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand
or less than

3 months
3 to less than

12 months 1 to 5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2017

Accounts payable 5,169 – – 5,169
Financial liabilities included in 

other payables and accruals 36,526 – – 36,526
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 7,543 4,784 31,627 43,954
Amount due to the ultimate holding company 29 – – 29
Amounts due to related companies 3,818 – – 3,818

53,085 4,784 31,627 89,496

On demand
or less than

3 months
3 to less than

12 months 1 to 5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016

Accounts payable 15,666 – – 15,666
Financial liabilities included in 

other payables and accruals 36,535 – – 36,535
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5,904 1,855 10,867 18,626
Amount due to the ultimate holding company 26 – – 26
Amounts due to related companies 2,266 – – 2,266

60,397 1,855 10,867 73,119
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
(continued)

(f) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business 
and maximise shareholders’ value.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend 
payment to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

The Group monitors capital using the debt-to-total equity ratio, which is net debt divided by total 
equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including amount due to the ultimate holding 
company, amounts due to related companies and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) less 
cash and cash equivalents.

The debt-to-total equity ratios at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Total borrowings 44,771 18,946
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (34,201) (33,373)

Net debt 10,570 (14,427)

Total equity 294,648 344,718

Debt-to-total equity ratio 4% N/A

46. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 20 January 2018, Like Top, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered 
into a sourcing agent agreement with Ecuamining Mineral, pursuant to which Like Top has agreed to 
appoint and Ecuamining Mineral has agreed to act as sourcing agent of Like Top for a term of two years 
commencing from 20 January 2018 to procure the supply of mineral concentrates or its related products 
in Ecuador and Ecuamining Mineral would receive a commission of 2% of the purchase invoice price in 
respect of each order placed by Like Top.
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is 
as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 444 716
Investments in subsidiaries 2,405 2,405

Total non-current assets 2,849 3,121

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 843 1,266
Amounts due from subsidiaries 285,957 351,145
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1,047 1,374
Cash and bank balances 14,081 4,705

Total current assets 301,928 358,490

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 11,957 11,154
Interest-bearing other borrowing 6,010 5,563
Amount due to the ultimate holding company 29 24
Amounts due to related companies 456 456

Total current liabilities 18,452 17,197

Net current assets 283,476 341,293

Total assets less current liabilities 286,325 344,414

Net assets 286,325 344,414

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 104,540 104,540
Reserves 181,785 239,874

Total equity 286,325 344,414

Zhou Chu Jian He Zhang Min
Director Director
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share Share
premium option Retained
account reserve profits Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 73,048 4,318 191,653 269,019
Total comprehensive income 

for the year – – 162,071 162,071
Share options exercised 5,354 (2,645) – 2,709
Share issue expenses (3) – – (3)
2016 special dividend paid – – (193,922) (193,922)

At 31 December 2016 and 
1 January 2017 78,399 1,673 159,802 239,874

Total comprehensive expense 
for the year – – (58,089) (58,089)

At 31 December 2017 78,399 1,673 101,713 181,785

48. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 

2018.
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PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

 

 

Details of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Location

Approximate 

gross floor area

(square meter)

Category of 

the lease term Use

Office units 708, 728, 731, 732, 851 Land use rights Commercial

734, 735, 1132, for a term expired on 

1510 and 1516 of Tower 1 21 February 2044

Junefield Plaza

No. 6 Xuan Wu Men Wai Dajie

Xi Cheng District, Beijing

the PRC

Office units 725-729 on Level 7 744 Land use rights Commercial

and 917 on Level 9 of Tower 2 for a term expired on 

Junefield Plaza 21 March 2044

No. 10 Xuan Wu Men Wai Dajie

Xi Cheng District, Beijing

the PRC

PARTICULARS OF COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Details of the Group’s completed properties for sale as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Name of property 

and location Use

Year of 

completion

Approximate 

saleable 

floor area

(square meter)

Group’s 

interest

Units 203, 502, 702 and 703

Calle Los

Cisnes 361-365

Urb. Limatambo,

San Isidro,

Lima, 

Peru

Residential 2015 762 100%
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

 

 

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE 36,275 154,401 298,688 335,774 138,070

Loss before tax from  
continuing operations (63,891) (51,881) (73,764) (87,645) (90,005)

Income tax credit/(expense) 1,029 2,195 (201) (9,332) 6,505

Loss for the year from  
continuing operations (62,862) (49,686) (73,965) (96,977) (83,500)

(Loss)/profit for the year from  
discontinued operations – (1,953) (1,897) (5,014) 174,428

(Loss)/profit for the year (62,862) (51,639) (75,862) (101,991) 90,928

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (44,895) (36,495) (69,434) (104,923) 79,361
Non-controlling interests (17,967) (15,144) (6,428) 2,932 11,567

(62,862) (51,639) (75,862) (101,991) 90,928

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 440,295 483,730 798,749 922,807 1,141,671
Total liabilities (145,647) (139,012) (206,670) (235,255) (272,519)

294,648 344,718 592,079 687,552 869,152

Equity attributable to: 
Owners of the Company 241,836 278,838 509,358 592,989 713,664
Non-controlling interests 52,812 65,880 82,721 94,563 155,488

294,648 344,718 592,079 687,552 869,152
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